Topics on Recent Developments in the Theory of Markov Processes

Zhen-Qing Chen

University of Washington, USA

April 15, 2012 (First Draft)

Preface

This is an expanded version of a preliminary set of notes for a series of lectures that I give at Kyoto University from January to March, 2012. It contains more material than I have covered in these lectures.

I thank Takashi Kumagai and the Research Institute of Mathematical Sciences (RIMS) at Kyoto University for the invitation and the hospitality. The financial support from RIMS is gratefully acknowledged. I thank the audience, especially Masatoshi Fukushima, for helpful comments on a preliminary version of this Lecture Notes. Thanks are also due to the staffs at RIMS for turning my hand drawing pictures into the digital ones that appeared in this lecture notes. ii

Contents

Preface			i
1	Brownian Motion with Darning		1
	1.1	What is Brownian motion with darning?	1
	1.2	Existence and Uniqueness	4
	1.3	Localization Properties	9
	1.4	Conformal Invariance of Planar BMD	11
	1.5	Zero Flux Characterization of Generator	13
	1.6	Harmonic Functions and Zero Period Property	15
	1.7	Harmonic Conjugate	19
	1.8	Boundary Process	20
	1.9	Green Function and Poisson Kernel	21
	1.10	Applications to Complex Analysis	27
2	Boundary Trace of Symmetric Markov Processes		
	2.1	Preliminaries	30
	2.2	Time Changes and Trace Dirichlet Forms	32
	2.3	Energy Functional	33
	2.4	Trace Dirichlet Forms and Feller Measures	37
	2.5	Beurling-Deny Decomposition	45
	2.6	A Localization Formula	47
3	Not	es	53
Re	References		

CONTENTS

Chapter 1

Brownian Motion with Darning

1.1 What is Brownian motion with darning?

Let X be Brownian motion on \mathbb{R}^d . For a nearly Borel set $A \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, a point x is said to be regular for A if $\mathbb{P}_x(\sigma_A = 0) = 1$. Here $\sigma_A := \inf\{t > 0 : X_t \in A\}$ is the first hitting time of A by Brownian motion X. We use A^r to denote all the regular points of A. A nearly Borel set A in \mathbb{R}^d is said to be polar if $\mathbb{P}_x(\sigma_A < \infty) = 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. It is well-known that for every nearly Borel set $A, A \setminus A^r$ is polar (see [16, Proposition 6.3 on p.44]). It is also known that when $d = 1, A^r = \overline{A}$ (see [16, Proposition 3.2 on p.30]). Lebesgue showed that when d = 2, any connected subset B of \mathbb{R}^2 that contains at least two points is non-polar and $B \subset B^r$ (see [16, Proposition 7.2 on p.47]).

Suppose that E a domain (open connected subset) of \mathbb{R}^d , and K_1, \ldots, K_N are quasiseparated non-polar finely closed relatively compact subsets of E. Let $D = E \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^N K_j$. Intuitively speaking, Brownian motion with darning on $D^* := D \cup \{a_1^*, \ldots, a_N^*\}$ is a Brownian motion in E by "shorting" each K_j into a single point a_j^* . Sometimes we also use K_j^* to denote the point a_j^* . For such a purpose, we may assume without loss of generality¹ that $K_j \subset K_j^r$. But for the convenience of describing the topology on D^* , in this notes we assume that each K_j is compact but put no assumptions on the regular points of K_j , that is, we do not assume $K_j \subset K_j^r$.

Formally, by identifying each K_j with a single point a_j^* , we can get an induced topological space $D^* := D \cup \{a_1^*, \ldots, a_N^*\}$ from E, with a neighborhood of each a_j^* defined as $(U \cap D) \cup \{a_j^*\}$ for some neighborhood U of K_j in E. Let m be the Lebesgue measure on D, extended to D^* by setting $m(K^*) = 0$, where $K^* := \{a_1^*, \ldots, a_N^*\}$.

Definition 1.1.1 Brownian motion with darning (BMD in abbreviation) X^* is an *m*-symmetric diffusion on D^* such that

¹In general, note that (cf. [2, Lemma A.2.18(i)]) $K_j \setminus K_j^r$ is semipolar and hence polar. Thus for every $x \in K_j \cap K_j^r$, since $\sigma_{K_j} = \sigma_{K_j \cap K_j^r} \wedge \sigma_{K_j \setminus K_j^r}$, $\mathbb{P}_x(\sigma_{K_j \cap K_j^r} = 0) = \mathbb{P}_x(\sigma_{K_j} = 0) = 1$; that is, every point of $K_j \cap K_j^r$ is regular for $K_j \cap K_j^r$. So we can take $K_j \cap K_j^r$ as new K_j , which is non-polar and *finely closed* (rather than closed) since $E \setminus K_j$ is finely open.

- (i) its part process in D has the same law as Brownian motion in D;
- (ii) it admits no killings on K^* .

Observe that it follows from the *m*-symmetry of X^* and the fact that $m(K^*) = 0$ that BMD X^* spends zero Lebesgue amount of time (i.e. zero sojourn time) at K^* . We point out that *D* can be disconnected.

Example 1.1.2 (One dimensional examples) Let $E = \mathbb{R}$.

(i) N = 1 and K = [0, 1]. In this case, $D^* \cong \mathbb{R}$ and BMD X^* on D^* is just the standard BM on \mathbb{R} (see Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1: Example 1.1.2(i)

(ii) N = 1 and $K = [0, 1/3] \cup [2/3, 1]$. D^* is homeomorphic to a knotted curve (see Figure 1.2) and X^* is BM on this graph.



Figure 1.2: Example 1.1.2(ii)

(iii) N = 1 and $K = \{-1, 0, 1, 2\}$. The graph D^* has three knots hanging at the same point (see Figure 1.3). BMD X^* is BM on this graph.



Figure 1.3: Example 1.1.2(iii)

(iv) N = 2, $K_1 = \{-1, 1\}$ and $K_2 = \{0, 2\}$. D^* is a graph consisting a circle and a line passing the center of the circle (see Figure 1.4). BMD X^* is BM on this graph.



Figure 1.4: Example 1.1.2(iv)

(v) N = 1 and K is the Cantor subset of the unit interval [0, 1]. D^* is a graph with infinite degree (see Figure 1.5). BMD X^* is BM on this graph.



Figure 1.5: Example 1.1.2(v)

Example 1.1.3 (Multidimensional examples) Let $E = \mathbb{R}^d$ with $d \ge 2$.

(i) N = 1 and K is a non-polar connected compact subset of \mathbb{R}^d . See Figure 1.6.



Figure 1.6: Example 1.1.3(i)

- (ii) N = 1 and $K = \partial B(0, 1)$. D^* is homeomorphic to he plane with a sphere sitting on top of it. See Figure 1.7.
- (iii) N = 2, $K_1 = B(0, 1)$ and $K_2 = B(x_0, 1)$ for some $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ with $|x_0| \ge 2$. See Figure 1.8.
- (iv) N = 2, $K_1 = \partial B(0, 1)$ and $K_2 = \partial B(x_0, 2)$ for some $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ with $|x_0| \ge 4$. D^* is homeomorphic to the plane with a sphere sitting on top of it. See Figure 1.9.
- (v) $N = 1, K = B(0, 1) \cup B(x_0, 1)$ for some $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ with $|x_0| \ge 2$.
- (vi) N = 1 and $K = \partial B(0, 1) \cup \partial B(x_0, 2)$ for some $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ with $|x_0| \ge 4$. D^* is homeomorphic to the D^* in (iv) but with two points where the spheres touch the plane identified into one point.
- (vii) d = 2, N = 1 and K is the Siepinski gasket or Siepinkski carpet in \mathbb{R}^2 .



Figure 1.8: Example 1.1.3(iii)

- **Remark 1.1.4** (i) BMD with darning on $(E \setminus K)^*$ when K is a fractal-like set might be an interesting subject to study from the fractal geometry point of view.
 - (ii) One can also do darning (or shorting) for symmetric diffusions on \mathbb{R}^d as well as on general state spaces. In fact, one can do darning for a large family of non-symmetric (possibly discontinuous) Markov processes. See [2, 4, 5, 6, 9]. The results developed in this lecture notes (except the conformal invariance property for planar BMD) can be easily adapted to be applicable to symmetric diffusions on general state spaces. \Box

1.2 Existence and Uniqueness

In this section, we show that BMD always exists and is unique in law.

As mentioned earlier, BMD on D^* can be intuitively thought of as obtained from Brownian motion on E by "shorting" each K_j . The Dirichlet form for the part process X^E of Brownian motion X killed upon leaving domain E is $(\mathbf{D}, W_0^{1,2}(E))$, where $\mathbf{D}(u, v) = \frac{1}{2} \int_E \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) dx$ and $W_0^{1,2}(E)$ is the $\sqrt{\mathbf{D}_1}$ -completion of $C_c^{\infty}(E)$. Here for $\alpha > 0$, $\mathbf{D}_{\alpha}(u, u) := \mathbf{D}(u, u) + \alpha \int_E u(x)^2 dx$. The quadratic form $(\mathbf{D}, W_0^{1,2}(E))$ is a regular Dirichlet form in $L^2(E; dx)$. For $u \in W_0^{1,2}(E)$, its energy measure

$$\mu_{\langle u\rangle}(dx) = |\nabla u(x)|^2 dx,$$

which is the same as its strongly local part $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^{c}(dx)$ as the Dirichlet form $(\mathbf{D}, W_{0}^{1,2}(E))$ is strongly local.

Think $\mathbf{D}(u, u)$ as the energy for the potential (or voltage) u on E. "Shorting" on K_j means u is constant **D**-q.e. on K_j . Denote by $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ the Dirichlet form for BMD X^* on D^* . Then intuitively,

$$\mathcal{F}^* = \{ u \in W_0^{1,2}(E) : u \text{ is constant } \mathbf{D}\text{-q.e. on each } K_j \}$$

and $\mathcal{E}^*(u,v) = \mathbf{D}(u,v)$ for $u, v \in \mathcal{F}^*$. Denote $K = \bigcup_{j=1}^N K_j$ and $\sigma_K := \inf\{t > 0 : X_t^E \in K\}$. It is well known that for every $u \in W_0^{1,2}(E)$ and $\alpha > 0$, $\mathbf{H}_K^{\alpha}u(x) := \mathbb{E}_x\left[e^{-\alpha\sigma_K}u(X_{\sigma_K}^E)\right]$ is in



Figure 1.9: Example 1.1.3(iv)

 $W_0^{1,2}(E)$ and $u - \mathbf{H}_K^{\alpha} u \in W_0^{1,2}(D)$. Moreover, $u - \mathbf{H}_K^{\alpha} u$ is the \mathbf{D}_{α} -orthogonal projection of u into the closed subspace $W_0^{1,2}(D)$ of $W_0^{1,2}(E)$. Define for each j,

$$u_j(x) := \mathbb{E}_x \left[e^{-\sigma_K}; X^E_{\sigma_K} \in K_j \right].$$

Since K_j is compact, $u_j = \mathbf{H}_K^1 f$ for any $f \in C_c^{\infty}(E)$ with f = 1 on K_j and f = 0 on other K_i 's, so it is an element in $W_0^{1,2}(E)$ that is \mathbf{D}_1 -orthogonal to $W_0^{1,2}(D)$. For $u \in \mathcal{F}^* \subset W_0^{1,2}(E)$, since u takes constant value, denoted as $u(K_j)$, \mathbf{D} -q.e. on each K_j , we have

$$\mathbf{H}_{K}^{1}u(x) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathbb{E}_{x}\left[e^{-\sigma_{K}}u(X_{\sigma_{K}}^{E}); X_{\sigma_{K}}^{E} \in K_{j}\right] = \sum_{j=1}^{N} u(K_{j})u_{j}(x)$$

As each K_i is non-polar, one has

$$\mathcal{F}^* = \text{linear span of } W_0^{1,2}(D) \text{ and } \{u_j, j = 1, \dots, N\}$$

and for $u, v \in \mathcal{F}^*$,

$$\mathcal{E}^*(u,v) = \mathbf{D}(u,v) = \frac{1}{2} \int_D \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) dx.$$

In the last equality, we used the fact that

$$\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^c(\bigcup_{j=1}^N K_j) = \int_{\bigcup_{j=1}^N K_j} |\nabla u(x)|^2 dx = 0 \quad \text{for any } u \in \mathcal{F}^*,$$

due to the following result that is valid for any quasi-regular Dirichlet form.

Theorem 1.2.1 Let $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ be a generic quasi-regular Dirichlet form on $L^2(E; m)$, where E is a Lusin space. Suppose that $u \in b\mathcal{F}$. Then the push forward measure ν of $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^c$ under map u defined by

$$\nu(A) := \mu_{\langle u \rangle}^c(u^{-1}(A)), \quad A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}),$$

is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} . This in particular implies that $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^c$ does not charge on level sets of u. Here $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^c$ is the Revuz measure for $\langle M^{u,c} \rangle$, the predictable quadratic variation of the continuous part $M^{u,c}$ of the square-integrable martingale M^u appeared in Fukushima's decomposition of $u(X_t) - u(X_0)$. **Proof.** It suffices to show that for any compact set $K \subset \mathbb{R}$ having zero Lebesgue measure, $\nu(K) = 0$. Let K be a compact set having zero Lebesgue measure. There exists a sequence $\{\varphi_k, k \geq 1\}$ of continuous functions having compact support in \mathbb{R} such that $|\varphi_k| \leq 1$, $\lim_{k\to\infty} \varphi_k(r) = \mathbb{1}_K(r)$ on \mathbb{R} , and

$$\int_0^\infty \varphi_k(r)dr = \int_{-\infty}^0 \varphi_k(r)dr = 0 \quad \text{for } k \ge 1.$$

The last display implies that each $\Phi_k(x) := \int_0^x \varphi_k(r) dr$ is a C^1 function with compact support, $\Phi_k(0) = 0$ and $|\Phi'_k(x)| \leq 1$. Hence $\Phi_k(u)$ is a normal contraction of u and so $\Phi_k(u) \in \mathcal{F}$ with $\mathcal{E}(\Phi_k(u), \Phi_k(u)) \leq \mathcal{E}(u, u)$. Since $\lim_{k\to\infty} \Phi_k(r) = 0$ on \mathbb{R} , by dominated convergence theorem, $\Phi_k(u) \to 0$ in $L^2(E; m)$. Thus by Banach-Saks Theorem (see, e.g., [2, Theorem A.4.1]), taking the Cesàro mean sequence of a suitable subsequence of $\{\varphi_k, k \geq 1\}$, and then redefining them as $\{\varphi_k, k \geq 1\}$ if necessary, we may and do assume that $\Phi_k(u)$ is \mathcal{E}_1 -convergent to $0 \in \mathcal{F}$. Now by Fatou's lemma and [2, Theorems 4.3.3(iii) and 4.3.7], we have

$$\nu(K) \leq \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \varphi_k(r)^2 \nu(dr) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_E \varphi_k(u(x))^2 \mu_{\langle u \rangle}^c(dx)$$

=
$$\lim_{k \to \infty} 2\mathcal{E}^c(\Phi_k(u), \Phi_k(u)) \leq 2 \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathcal{E}(\Phi_k(u), \Phi_k(u)) = 0.$$

This completes the proof.

Now we define

$$\mathcal{F}^* = \text{linear span of } W_0^{1,2}(D) \text{ and } \{u_j|_D, j = 1, \dots, N\}$$
 (1.2.1)

and for $u, v \in \mathcal{F}^*$,

$$\mathcal{E}^*(u,v) = \frac{1}{2} \int_D \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) dx.$$
(1.2.2)

Observe that

$$\mathcal{F}^* = \left\{ u|_D : \ u \in W_0^{1,2}(E), \ u \text{ is constant } \mathbf{D}\text{-q.e. on each } K_j \right\}$$
(1.2.3)

and

$$W_0^{1,2}(D) \subset \mathcal{F}^* \subset W^{1,2}(D) := \left\{ f \in L^2(D; dx) : \nabla f \in L^2(D; dx) \right\}.$$

Clearly, $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ is a Dirichlet form on $L^2(D; dx) = L^2(D^*; m)$.

Theorem 1.2.2 The quadratic form $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ defined by (1.2.1)-(1.2.2) is a regular Dirichlet form on $L^2(D^*; m)$. It is strongly local and each a_j^* has positive capacity. Consequently, there is an m-symmetric diffusion X^* on D^* that starts from every point in D^* and admits no killings on D^* . The diffusion X^* is BMD on D^* and every a_j^* is regular for itself.

1.2. EXISTENCE AND UNIQUENESS

Proof. Let $\mathcal{C} = \{u \in C_c^{\infty}(E) : u \text{ is constant on each } K_j\}$. By defining $u(a_j^*)$ to be the value of u on K_j , we can view \mathcal{C} as a subspace of $C_c(D^*) \cap \mathcal{F}^*$. Since \mathcal{C} is an algebra that separates points in D^* , by Stone-Weierstrass theorem, \mathcal{C} is uniformly dense in $C_{\infty}(D^*)$. Next we show \mathcal{C} is \mathcal{E}_1^* -dense in \mathcal{F}^* . For this, it suffices to establish that each u_i can be \mathcal{E}_1 -approximated by elements in \mathcal{C} . Let $f_j \in C_c^{\infty}(E)$ so that $f_j = 1$ on K_j and $f_j = 0$ on K_i for $i \neq j$. Note that $u_j = \mathbf{H}_K^1 f_j = f_j - (f_j - \mathbf{H}_K^1 f_j)$ is a **D**₁-orthogonal decomposition with $f_j - \mathbf{H}_K^1 f_j \in W_0^{1,2}(D)$. Since $(\mathbf{D}, W_0^{1,2}(D))$ is a regular Dirichlet form on $L^2(D; dx)$, there is a sequence $\{g_k, k \ge 1\} \subset C_c^{\infty}(D)$ that is **D**₁-convergent to $f_j - \mathbf{H}_K^1 f_j$. Let $v_k := f_j - g_k$, which is in \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{E}_1^* -convergent to u_i . Thus we have established that $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ is a regular Dirichlet form on $L^2(D^*; m)$. Clearly it is strongly local and its part Dirichlet form on D is $(\mathbf{D}, W_0^{1,2}(D))$. So there is an *m*-symmetric diffusion X^* on D^* associated with $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$, whose part process in D is the killed Brownian motion in D. The diffusion X^* is a BMD on D^* . Since Brownian motion X^E in E starting from $x \in D$ visits each K_i with positive probability, X^* starting from $x \in D$ visits each a_i^* with positive probability. This implies that each a_i^* has positive capacity. Consequently, X^* can be refined to start from every point in D^* . That each a_i^* is regular for itself follows from the general fact that for any nearly Borel measurable set $A, A \setminus A^r$ is semipolar and hence *m*-polar.

We point out that in the above theorem, we do not assume that every point of K_j is a regular point for K_j . If $K_j \subset K_j^r$ for every j = 1, ..., N, then each u_j is a continuous functions in $C_{\infty}(E)$ that takes constant value 1 on K_j and zero on other K_i . From it, one concludes immediately that $\mathcal{C}_1 := \{u \in W_0^{1,2}(E) \cap C_{\infty}(E) : u \text{ is constant on each } K_j\}$, after defining $u(a_j^*)$ to be the value of u on K_j for each $u \in \mathcal{C}_1$, is a core of $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ and so $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ is a regular Dirichlet form.

Every function in a regular Dirichlet form is known to admit a quasi-continuous version (see, e.g., [2]). We assume throughout this notes that every function u in the domain of a regular Dirichlet form is always represented by its quasi-continuous version.

Theorem 1.2.3 BMD on D^* is unique in law.

Proof. It suffices to show that if X^* is a BMD on D^* , its associated quasi-regular Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ on $L^2(D^*; m)$ has to be $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$. First note that according to the definition of BMD, each a_j^* is non-polar for X^* and that the part Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}_D)$ of $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ in Dis $(\mathbf{D}, W_0^{1,2}(D))$ (see [2, Theorem 3.3.8]). By the \mathcal{E}_1 -orthogonal projection (see [2, Theorem 3.2.2]), for every $u \in \mathcal{F}$, $\mathbf{H}_{K^*}^1 u(x) := \mathbb{E}_x \left[e^{-\sigma^*} u(X_{\sigma^*}^*) \right] \in \mathcal{F}$ and $u - \mathbf{H}_{K^*}^1 u \in W_0^{1,2}(D)$. Here $K^* := \{a_1^*, \ldots, a_N^*\}$ and $\sigma^* := \inf\{t > 0 : X_t^* \in K^*\}$. Now

$$\mathbf{H}_{K^*}^1 u(x) = \sum_{j=1}^N u(a_j^*) \mathbb{E}_x \left[e^{-\sigma^*}; X_{\sigma^*}^* = a_j^* \right] \quad \text{for } x \in D.$$

By the continuity of X^* , the definition of a_j^* and the fact that $X^{*,D}$ has the same distribution as the subprocess of X^E killed upon leaving D, we see that

$$\mathbb{E}_x\left[e^{-\sigma^*}; X^*_{\sigma^*} = a^*_j\right] = \mathbb{E}_x\left[e^{-\sigma_E}; X^E_{\sigma_K} \in K_j\right] = u_j(x) \quad \text{for } x \in D.$$

It follows then $\mathbf{H}_{K^*}^1 u = \sum_{j=1}^N u(a_j^*) u_j(x)$. As each a_j^* is non-polar,

$$\{(u(a_1^*),\ldots,u(a_N^*)); u \in \mathcal{F}\} = \mathbb{R}^N$$

and so $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}^*$. Note that $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ is strongly local so for every bounded $u \in \mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}^*$,

$$\mathcal{E}(u,u) = \frac{1}{2}\mu^c_{\langle u \rangle}(D^*) = \frac{1}{2}\mu^c_{\langle u \rangle}(D) + \sum_{j=1}^N \mu^c_{\langle u \rangle}(a_j^*) = \frac{1}{2}\mu^c_{\langle u \rangle}(D),$$

where in the last equality, we used Theorem 1.2.1 with $A = \{u(a_j^*); j = 1, ..., N\}$. For every relatively compact open subset U of D, there is a $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}(D)$ so that $\psi = 1$ on \overline{U} . Note that $u\psi \in \mathcal{F}_D = W_0^{1,2}(D)$ and $u\psi = u$ on U. As $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}_D) = (\mathbf{D}, W_0^{1,2}(D))$, by the strong local property of the energy measure $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^c$ (see [2, Proposition 4.3.1]), we have

$$\mu_{\langle u\rangle}^c(dx) = \mu_{\langle u\psi\rangle}^c(dx) = |\nabla(u\psi)(x)|^2 dx = |\nabla u(x)|^2 dx \quad \text{on } U.$$

Consequently, we have $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^c(dx) = |\nabla u(x)|^2 dx$ on D. So $\mathcal{E}(u, u) = \frac{1}{2} \int_D |\nabla u(x)|^2 dx$ for every bounded $u \in \mathcal{F}$ and hence for every $u \in \mathcal{F}$. This completes the proof that $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}) = (\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$. \Box

- **Remark 1.2.4** (i) The above procedure of constructing BMD works almost word for word for darning holes for symmetric diffusions on general state spaces. We will use this extension without further mention in Theorems 1.3.2 and 1.3.3.
- (ii) Let D be a Euclidean domain in \mathbb{R}^d . In [11], Fukushima considered via Dirichlet form technique a process that amounts to darning reflected Brownian motion on \overline{D} by "shorting" ∂D .

Theorem 1.2.5 Let $\varphi_j(x) := \mathbb{P}_x(X_{\sigma_K}^E \in K_j), j = 1, \ldots, N, and (\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}_e^*)$ the extended Dirichlet form of $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$. Then

$$\mathcal{F}_{e}^{*} = \text{linear span of } W_{0,e}^{1,2}(D) \text{ and } \{\varphi_{j}|_{D}, j = 1, \dots, N\},$$

$$\mathcal{E}^{*}(u,v) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{D} \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) dx \quad \text{for } u, v \in \mathcal{F}^{*}.$$

Here $W_{0,e}^{1,2}(D)$ denotes the extended Dirichlet space of $(\mathbf{D}, W_0^{1,2}(D))$.

Proof. Clearly, $W_{0,e}^{1,2}(D) \subset \mathcal{F}_e^*$. Let $f_j \in C_c^{\infty}(E)$ so that $f_j = 1$ on K_j and $\operatorname{supp}[f_j] \cap K_i = \emptyset$ for any $i \neq j$. Then $\phi_j(x) = \mathbf{H}_K f_j(x) := \mathbb{E}_x \left[f_j(X_{\sigma_K}^E) \right]$. Since for $\alpha \in (0,1)$, $\mathbf{H}_k^{\alpha} f_j \in \mathcal{F}^*$ with

$$\mathcal{E}^*_{\alpha}(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}_K f_j, \mathbf{H}^{\alpha}_K f_j) \le \mathcal{E}^*_{\alpha}(f_j, f_j) \le \mathbf{D}_{\alpha}(f_j, f_j)$$

1.3. LOCALIZATION PROPERTIES

and that $\lim_{\alpha\to 0} \mathbf{H}_K^{\alpha} f_j = \mathbf{H}_K f_j = \varphi_j$ on D, we conclude that $\varphi_j \in \mathcal{F}_e^*$. Hence we have shown

$$\mathcal{F}_e^* \supset \text{linear span of } W^{1,2}_{0,e}(D) \text{ and } \{\varphi_j|_D, j=1,\ldots,N\},\$$

Now suppose that $u \in \mathcal{F}_e^*$. Then there is an \mathcal{E}^* -Cauchy sequence $\{w_k, k \ge 1\}$ in \mathcal{F}^* that converges to u *m*-a.e. on D^* . For each $k \ge 1$, there is $f_k \in W_0^{1,2}(D)$ so that

$$w_k(x) = f_k(x) + \sum_{j=1}^N w_k(a_j^*)u_j(x) = f_k(x) + \sum_{j=1}^N w_k(a_j^*)(u_j(x) - \varphi_j(x)) + \sum_{j=1}^N w_k(a_j^*)\varphi_j(x).$$

Note that $h_k := \sum_{j=1}^N w_k(a_j^*) \varphi_j \in \mathcal{F}_e$ which is \mathcal{E}^* -orthogonal (or equivalently, **D**-orthogonal) to $W_{0,e}^{1,2}(D)$, while $g_k := f_k + \sum_{j=1}^N w_k(a_j^*)(u_j - \varphi_j) \in W_{0,e}^{1,2}(D)$ due to the fact that $u_j - \varphi_j = \lim_{\alpha \to 0} (\mathbf{H}_K^1 f_j - \mathbf{H}_K^\alpha f_j)$ and $\mathbf{H}_K^1 f_j - \mathbf{H}_K^\alpha f_j \in W_0^{1,2}(D)$. Thus $\{g_k, k \geq 1\}$ is a **D**-Cauchy sequence in the transient Dirichlet form (**D**, $W_0^{1,2}(D)$) in $L^2(D; dx)$ and so $g_k \to g$ in the Hilbert space $(W_{0,e}^{1,2}(D), \mathbf{D})$ and a.e. on D for some $g \in W_{0,e}^{1,2}(D)$. Consequently, $h_k \to h := u - g$ m-a.e. on D^* as $k \to \infty$. It follows then $w_k(a_j^*)$ converges to some constant c_j as $k \to \infty$ because $\{\varphi_j(x), j = 1, \ldots, N\}$ are linearly independent functions on D. We thus conclude that $h = \sum_{j=1}^N c_j \varphi_j$. As u = g + h, this completes proof of the theorem. \Box

Remark 1.2.6 Let $W_{0,e}^{1,2}(E)$ be the extended Dirichlet space of $(\mathbf{D}, W_0^{1,2}(E))$. Then we conclude by the same argument as those in the second paragraph of this section that

 $\mathcal{F}_e^* = \left\{ u|_D : u \in W_{0,e}^{1,2}(E), \ u \text{ is constant } \mathbf{D}\text{-q.e. on each } K_j \right\}.$

1.3 Localization Properties

Suppose that E is a domain in \mathbb{R}^d and K_1, \ldots, K_N are disjoint non-polar compact subsets of E. Suppose also that E_1 is a subdomain of E that contains K_1, \ldots, K_l for some $l \leq N$ and that $\overline{E}_1 \cap K_j = \emptyset$ for j > l. Let $D = E \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^N K_j$ and $D_1 = E_1 \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^l K_j$. Set $D^* := D \cup \{a_1^*, \ldots, a_N^*\}$ and $D_1^* = D_1 \cup \{a_1^*, \ldots, a_l^*\}$, and let X^* be BMD on D^* .

Theorem 1.3.1 The part process X^{*,D_1^*} of X^* killed upon leaving D_1^* is the BMD on D_1^* .

Proof. We will present two proofs for this theorem.

(i) Using Theorem 1.2.3 and by checking the definition of BMD in D_1^* , we see immediately that X^{*,D_1^*} is the BMD on D_1^* .

(ii) We now present a second proof by using Dirichlet form characterization of BMD in D_1^* . Let $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ and $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ be the Dirichlet forms of BMD in D^* and D_1^* , respectively. Recall from (1.2.3) that

$$\mathcal{F}^* = \left\{ u|_D : u \in W_0^{1,2}(E), u \text{ is constant } \mathbf{D}\text{-q.e. on each } K_j \right\}.$$

It is known that X^{*,D_1^*} has Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}_{D^*}^*)$ on $L^2(D_1^*; m)$, where

$$\mathcal{F}_{D_1^*}^* := \{ u \in \mathcal{F}^* : u = 0 \ \mathcal{E}^*\text{-q.e. on } D^* \setminus D_1^* \}$$

Since each a_j^* has positive capacity and $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}_D^*) = (\mathbf{D}, W_0^{1,2}(D))$, we conclude that

$$\mathcal{F}_{D_1^*}^* = \left\{ u|_D : u \in W_0^{1,2}(E), u \text{ is constant } \mathbf{D}\text{-q.e. on } K_j \text{ for } j = 1, \dots, l \right.$$

and $u = 0$ **D**-q.e. on $E \setminus E_1 \right\} = \mathcal{F}.$

So $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}_{D_1^*}^*) = (\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$, which establishes that X^{*, D_1^*} is the BMD on D_1^* .

The next theorem says one can darn (or short) holes one by one.

Theorem 1.3.2 Let Y be BMD on $O^* := (E \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{N-1} K_j) \cup \{a_1^*, \ldots, a_{N-1}^*\}$ by darning (or shorting) the first N-1 holes. Let Z be the diffusion with darning on D^* obtained from Y by shoring K_N to a single point a_N^* . Then Z is BMD on D^* .

Proof. Let $D_1 = E \setminus \bigcup_{j=1}^{N-1} K_j$ and denote by $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ the Dirichlet form of Y on $L^2(D_1^*; m)$. In view of (1.2.3) and Theorem 1.2.1,

$$\mathcal{F} = \{ u | _{D_1} : u \in W_0^{1,2}(E), u \text{ is constant } \mathbf{D}\text{-q.e. on } K_j \text{ for } j = 1, \dots, N-1 \}$$

and

$$\mathcal{E}(u,v) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{D_1} \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) dx.$$

The Dirichlet form $(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$ on $L^2(D^*; m)$ for Z is

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{F}} = \{ u|_D : u \in \mathcal{F}, u \text{ is constant } \mathcal{E}\text{-q.e. on } K_N \} \\ = \{ u|_D : u \in W_0^{1,2}(E), u \text{ is constant } \mathbf{D}\text{-q.e. on } K_j \text{ for } j = 1, \dots, N \} \\ = \mathcal{F}^*$$

and, in view of Theorem 1.2.1, for $u, v \in \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}$,

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}(u,v) = \mathcal{E}(u,v) = \frac{1}{2} \int_D \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) dx.$$

This shows that $(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}) = (\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$, which completes the proof of the theorem.

Theorem 1.3.3 Let $K = A \cup B$ be the union of two disjoint non-polar compact subsets of E. Let Y be BMD on $(E \setminus A)^*$ by darning A, and Z the diffusion with darning on $(E \setminus K)^*$ obtained from Y by darning (or shoring) $A^* \cup B$. Then Z is BMD on $(E \setminus K)^*$ by darning K into one single point. **Proof.** Let $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ and $(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}, \widetilde{\mathcal{F}})$ be the Dirichlet forms for the processes Y and Z on $L^2((E \setminus A)^*; m)$ and $L^2((E \setminus K)^*; m)$, respectively. Note that

$$\mathcal{F} = \left\{ u|_{E \setminus A} : u \in W_0^{1,2}(E), u \text{ is constant } \mathbf{D}\text{-q.e. on } A \right\},$$
$$\mathcal{E}(u,v) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{E \setminus A} \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) dx \quad \text{for } u, v \in \mathcal{F},$$

while

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{\mathcal{F}} &= \left\{ u|_{E\setminus K} : \ u \in \mathcal{F}, \ u \text{ is constant } \mathcal{E}\text{-q.e. on } A^* \cup B \right\} \\ &= \left\{ u|_{E\setminus K} : \ u \in W_0^{1,2}(E), \ u \text{ is constant } \mathbf{D}\text{-q.e. on } K = A \cup B \right\} = \mathcal{F}^*, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}(u,v) &= \left. \mathcal{E}(u,v) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{E\setminus K} \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) dx = \mathcal{E}^*(u,v) \quad \text{ for } u,v \in \widetilde{\mathcal{F}}. \end{aligned}$$

Here $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ is the Dirichlet form for BMD X^* on $(E \setminus K)^*$. This proves that Z has the same distribution as BMD X^* on $(E \setminus K)^*$.

One can also prove the above two theorems just by using the definition of BMD on D^* .

1.4 Conformal Invariance of Planar BMD

In this section, we assume the dimension d = 2, E is a domain in \mathbb{R}^2 and K_1, \ldots, K_N are disjoint non-polar compact subsets of E. Let $K = \bigcup_{j=1}^N K_j$ and $D = E \setminus K$ and X^* be BMD in $D^* = D \cup \{a_1^*, \ldots, a_N^*\}$.

Theorem 1.4.1 Let $\widehat{K} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} \widehat{K}_i$, where $\{\widehat{K}_1, \ldots, \widehat{K}_N\}$ is a second set of disjoint non-polar compact subsets of a domain \widehat{E} in \mathbb{R}^2 . Suppose that ϕ is a conformal map from $E \setminus K$ onto $\widehat{E} \setminus \widehat{K}$ that, for each $i \ge 1$, ϕ maps the $E \setminus K$ -portion of any neighborhood of K_i into the $\widehat{E} \setminus \widehat{K}$ -portion of a neighborhood of \widehat{K}_i , and vice versa. Identify the compact set \widehat{K}_i with a single point \widehat{a}_i^* and equip $\widehat{D}^* := (\widehat{E} \setminus \widehat{K}) \cup \{\widehat{a}_1^*, \ldots, \widehat{a}_N^*\}$ the topology induced from \widehat{E} by identifying each set \widehat{K}_i into one point \widehat{a}_i^* . Define $\phi(a_i^*) = \widehat{a}_i^*$, $1 \le i \le N$. Then ϕ is a topological homeomorphism from D^* onto \widehat{D}^* . Moreover, $\phi(X^*)$ is, up to a time change, BMD on \widehat{D}^* .

Proof. In view of Theorem 1.3.1, we may assume that the domain E is bounded with smooth boundary and that ϕ extends continuously to ∂E to be a homeomorphism from ∂E to $\partial \hat{E}$. Let \hat{m} be the Lebesgue measure on $\hat{D} := \hat{E} \setminus \hat{K}$ extended to \hat{D}^* by setting $\hat{m}(\{\hat{a}_i^*\}) = 0$ for $i = 1, \ldots, N$. BMD $X^* = (X_t^*, \mathbb{P}_z^*)$ on D^* is an extension of the absorbing Brownian motion in D to D^* and is *m*-symmetric. By Theorem 1.2.5, the extended Dirichlet space $(\mathcal{F}_e^*, \mathcal{E}^*)$ of X^* is given by

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{F}_e^* = \left\{ f + \sum_{i=1}^N c_i \varphi_i |_D : f \in W_{0,e}^{1,2}(D), \ c_i \in \mathbb{R} \right\}, \\ \mathcal{E}^*(u,v) = \frac{1}{2} \int_D \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) dx \quad \text{for } u, v \in \mathcal{F}_e^*, \end{cases}$$

where $\varphi_i(x) := \mathbb{P}_x(X_{\sigma_K}^E \in K_i)$ for $x \in D$.

We define a Markov process $Y = (Y_t, \mathbb{P}^Y_w)_{w \in \widehat{D}^*}$ on \widehat{D}^* by

$$Y_t = \phi(X_t^*), \quad \mathbb{P}_w^Y = \mathbb{P}_{\phi^{-1}(w)}, \quad w \in \widehat{D}^*.$$
(1.4.1)

Y is clearly a diffusion process on \widehat{D}^* . We claim that Y, after a time change, is actually a BMD on \widehat{D}^* .

Denote by $\{P_t, t > 0\}$ and $\{P_t^Y, t > 0\}$ the transition function of X^* and Y, respectively. It then hold that $P_t^Y f(w) = P_t(f \circ \phi)(\phi^{-1}(z))$ for $w \in \widehat{D}^*$. Let $\psi = \phi^{-1}$ be the inverse map from \widehat{D}^* to D^* and let $\mu(dw) = |\psi'(w)|^2 \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{D}}(w) dw$, which is extended to \widehat{D}^* by setting $\mu(\widehat{K}^*) = 0$. Recall the change-of-variables formula that for any function $u \ge 0$ defined on D,

$$\int_{\widehat{D}} u(\psi(w))\mu(dw) = \int_{D} u(z)dz,$$

The above in particular implies that $\mu(\widehat{D}) = |D|$ is finite. From the change-of-variable formula, we immediately obtain $\|P_t^Y f\|_{L^2(\widehat{D};\mu)} = \|P_t(f \circ \phi)\|_{L^2(D;m)}$ and

$$(P_t^Y f, g)_{L^2(\widehat{D};\mu)} = (P_t^X (f \circ \phi), g \circ \phi)_{L^2(D;m)},$$

from which the μ -symmetry of Y follows. Let $(\mathcal{E}^Y, \mathcal{F}^Y)$ be the Dirichlet form of Y on $L^2(\widehat{D}^*; \mu)$. For $f \in L^2(\widehat{D}; \mu)$, we let $t \downarrow 0$ in the equality

$$t^{-1}(f - P_t^Y f, f)_{L^2(\widehat{D}^*;\mu)} = t^{-1}(f \circ \phi - P_t^X (f \circ \phi), f \circ \phi)_{L^2(D^*;m)}$$

to see that $f \in \mathcal{F}^Y$ if and only if $f \circ \phi \in \mathcal{F}^*$, and in this case,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}^{Y}(f,f) &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{D} |\nabla (f \circ \phi)|^{2}(z) dx \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{D} |\nabla f|^{2}(\phi(z))|\phi'(z)|^{2} dz = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\widehat{D}} |\nabla f(w)|^{2} dw. \end{aligned}$$

The above identity also implies that $f \in \mathcal{F}_e^Y$ if and only if $f \circ \phi \in \mathcal{F}_e^*$, and

$$\mathcal{E}^{Y}(f,f) = \mathcal{E}^{*}(f \circ \phi, f \circ \phi) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\widehat{D}} |\nabla f(w)|^{2} dw \quad \text{for } f \in \mathcal{F}_{e}^{Y}.$$

Let $(\widehat{\mathcal{E}}^*, \widehat{\mathcal{F}}^*)$ and $\widehat{\mathcal{F}}_e^*$ denote the Dirichlet form and extended Dirichlet space of BMD on \widehat{D}^* . We then conclude from Theorem 1.2.5 that $\mathcal{F}_e^Y = \widehat{\mathcal{F}}_e^*$. Since the finite measure $\mu(dz)$ on D^* is mutually absolutely continuous with respect to \widehat{m} on D^* , we have by [2, Theorem 5.2.7] that Y is a time-change of BMD \widehat{X}^* on D^* (and vice verse).

1.5 Zero Flux Characterization of Generator

The L^2 -generator $(\mathcal{L}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}))$ of $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ is defined as follows: $u \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L})$ if and only if $u \in \mathcal{F}^*$ and there is some $f \in L^2(D; dx) = L^2(D^*; m)$ so that

$$\mathcal{E}^*(u,v) = -\int_D f(x)v(x)dx \quad \text{for every } v \in \mathcal{F}^*.$$
(1.5.1)

We denote the above f as $\mathcal{L}u$. In view of (1.2.1), condition (1.5.1) is equivalent to

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{D} \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla v(x) dx = -\int_{D} f(x) v(x) dx \quad \text{for every } v \in C_{c}^{\infty}(D) \quad (1.5.2)$$

and

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_D \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla u_j(x) dx = -\int_D f(x) u_j(x) dx \quad \text{for every } j = 1, \dots, N.$$
(1.5.3)

(1.5.2) says that Δu exists on D in the distribution sense and $f = \frac{1}{2}\Delta u \in L^2(D; dx)$. Let us define the flux $\mathcal{N}(u)(a_i^*)$ of u at a_i^* by

$$\mathcal{N}(u)(a_j^*) = \int_D \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla u_j(x) dx + \int_D \Delta u(x) u_j(x) dx.$$
(1.5.4)

Then (1.5.3) is equivalent to

$$\mathcal{N}(u)(a_j^*) = 0. \qquad \text{for every } j = 1, \dots, N. \tag{1.5.5}$$

Hence we have established the following.

Theorem 1.5.1 A function $u \in \mathcal{F}^*$ is in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L})$ if and only if the distributional Laplacian Δu of u exists as an L^2 -integrable function on D and u has zero flux at every a_j^* . Moreover, for $u \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L})$, $\mathcal{L}u = \frac{1}{2}\Delta u$ on D.

Note that when ∂K_j is smooth for $j = 1, \ldots, N$, the by Green-Gauss formula, we have

$$\mathcal{N}(u)(a_j^*) = \int_{\partial K} \frac{\partial u(x)}{\partial \mathbf{n}} u_j(x) \sigma(dx),$$

where **n** is the unit outward normal vector field of D on ∂D and σ is the surface measure on ∂D . Since $u_j(x) = 1$ on K_j and $u_j(x) = 0$ on K_i with $i \neq j$,

$$\mathcal{N}(u)(a_j^*) = \int_{\partial K_j} \frac{\partial u(x)}{\partial \mathbf{n}} \sigma(dx).$$
(1.5.6)

Fix some $f_j \in \mathcal{F}^*$ so that $f_j(a_j^*) = 1$ and $f_j(a_i^*) = 0$ for $i \neq j$; that is, $f_j \in W_0^{1,2}(E)$ so that $f_j = 1$ **D**-q.e. on K_j and $f_j = 0$ **D**-q.e. on K_i for $i \neq j$.

Theorem 1.5.2 Suppose that $u \in W^{1,2}(D)$ with $\Delta u \in L^2(D; dx)$ in the distributional sense. Then

$$\mathcal{N}(u)(a_j) = \int_D \nabla u(x) \cdot \nabla f_j(x) dx + \int_D \Delta u(x) f_j(x) dx.$$
(1.5.7)

Proof. Assume that the distributional Δu of u exists and is in $L^2(D; dx)$. Since $f_j - u_j \in W_0^{1,2}(D)$, one has

$$\int_D \nabla (f_j(x) - u_j(x)) \cdot \nabla u(x) dx + \int_D (f_j(x) - u_j(x)) \Delta u(x) dx = 0,$$

which establishes (1.5.7).

Suppose that E is bounded. Then it is well known that the first eigenvalue of the Dirichlet Laplacian in E is strictly positive; that is, there is $\lambda_1 > 0$ so that

$$\mathbf{D}(f,f) \ge \lambda_1 \int_E f(x)^2 dx \quad \text{for } f \in W_0^{1,2}(E).$$

In view of Theorem 1.2.1 and (1.2.1), this in particular implies that

$$\mathcal{E}^*(u,u) \ge \lambda_1 \int_D u(x)^2 dx \quad \text{for } u \in \mathcal{F}^*.$$

It follows that $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ is transient and for every $f \in L^2(D; dx)$, there is $u \in \mathcal{F}^*$ so that $\mathcal{E}^*(u, v) = -\int_D f(x)v(x)dx$ for every $v \in \mathcal{F}^*$. We denote this u by G^*f . It is easy to see (cf. [2]) that G^* is the 0-order resolvent of X^* and $G^*f(x) = \mathbb{E}_x \left[\int_0^\infty f(X^*_s) ds \right]$ on D^* .

Theorem 1.5.3 If E is bounded, then for every $f \in L^{\infty}(D) (= L^{\infty}(D;m))$, $G^*f \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L})$ with $\mathcal{L}G^*f = -f$.

Proof. For $f \in L^2(D; dx)$, by the strong Markov property of X^* , we have for $x \in D$,

$$G^{*}f(x) = G_{D}f(x) + \mathbb{E}_{x}\left[\int_{\sigma_{K^{*}}}^{\infty} f(X_{s}^{*})ds\right] = G_{D}f(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{N} G^{*}f(a_{j}^{*})\mathbb{E}_{x}\left[X_{\sigma_{K^{*}}}^{*} = a_{j}^{*}\right]$$
$$= G_{D}f(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{N} G^{*}f(a_{j}^{*})\varphi_{j}(x).$$
(1.5.8)

Since $D = E \setminus K$ is bounded, $G_D(L^{\infty}(D)) \subset L^{\infty}(D) \subset L^2(D)$. In view of (1.5.8), G^* has the same property. Hence the resolvent equation $G^*f = G_1^*f + G_1^*(G^*f)$ yields that $G^*f \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L})$ with $\mathcal{L}G^*f = -f$.

1.6 Harmonic Functions and Zero Period Property

Definition 1.6.1 A function u defined on a connected open subset O of D^* is said to be X^* -harmonic or BMD-harmonic on O if for every relatively compact open subset O_1 of O,

$$\mathbb{E}_x\left[\left|u\left(X_{\tau_{O_1}}^*\right)\right|\right] < \infty \quad \text{and} \quad u(x) = \mathbb{E}_x\left[u\left(X_{\tau_{O_1}}^*\right)\right] \quad \text{for every } x \in O_1. \tag{1.6.1}$$

Here $\tau_{O_1} := \inf\{t \ge 0 : X_t^* \notin O_1\}.$

Clearly, the restriction to $O \cap D$ of any X*-harmonic function on O is harmonic there in the classical sense (i.e. with respect to Brownian motion) and so u is continuous in $O \cap D$. It follows that X*-harmonic functions in O_1 is locally bounded.

Proposition 1.6.2 If u is X^* -harmonic in a connected open subset O of D^* , then u is \mathcal{E}^* quasi-continuous on O. In fact, for every relatively compact open subset O_1 of O, there is
some function $f \in \mathcal{F}^*$ so that u = f m-a.e. in O_1 .

Proof. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $\partial O_1 \subset D$. Since u is harmonic in $O \cap D$, u is C^{∞} -smooth in $O \cap D$. Let $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(D)$ so that $\varphi = 1$ in a neighborhood of ∂O_1 . Note that $u\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(D) \subset \mathcal{F}^*$ and

$$u(x) = \mathbb{E}_x \left[(u\varphi)(X^*_{\tau_{O_1}}) \right] = \mathbf{H}_{D^* \setminus O_1}(u\varphi)(x) \quad \text{for } x \in O_1.$$

Since $u\varphi$ is bounded and compactly supported in D, $\mathbf{H}_{D^*\setminus O_1}(u\varphi) \in \mathcal{F}_e^* \cap L^2(D^*; m) = \mathcal{F}^*$. It follows that u is \mathcal{E}^* -quasi-continuous in O.

Lemma 1.6.3 Suppose that u is X^* -harmonic in a connected open subset O of D^* . Then $\lim_{O \cap D \ni x \to z} u(x) = u(a_j^*)$ for \mathbf{D} -q.e. $z \in K_j \cap \partial(O \cap D)$ whenever $a_j^* \in O$.

Proof. Suppose that $a_j^* \in O$. Let O_1 be a relatively compact connected open subset of O so that $O \cap K^* = \{a_j^*\}$. By Proposition 1.6.2, there is a function $f \in \mathcal{F}^*$ so that u = f *m*-a.e. in a neighborhood of \overline{O}_1 . By Theorem 1.2.2, f is the restriction to D of a function $\tilde{f} \in W_0^{1,2}(E)$ that takes constant value **D**-q.e. on each K_i . Let $\{D_k; k \ge 1\}$ be an increasing sequence of smooth subdomains of $D \cap O_1$ so that $\overline{D}_k \subset D_{k+1}$ and $\bigcup_{k\ge 1} D_k = O_1 \cap D$. Since f is harmonic in $O \cap D$, we have for $x \in O_1 \cap D$,

$$u(x) = f(x) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{E}_x \left[f(X_{\tau_{D_k}}) \right] = \mathbb{E}_x \left[f(X_{\tau_{O_1 \cap D}}) \right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}_x \left[f(X_{\tau_{O_1 \cap D}}); X_{\tau_{O_1 \cap D}} \in D \cap \partial O_1 \right] + u(a_j^*) \mathbb{P}_x \left(X_{\tau_{O_1 \cap D}} \in K_j \right)$$

Since $K_j \setminus K_j^r$ is semipolar, we conclude $\lim_{O \cap D \ni x \to z} u(x) = u(a_j^*)$ for **D**-q.e. $z \in K_j \cap \partial(O \cap D)$.

If $K_j^r \subset K_j$ for every $a_j^* \in O$, then every function u that is X^* -harmonic in a connected open subset O of D^* is continuous in O. In particular, such u is a harmonic function in $O \cap D$, taking boundary value $u(a_j^*)$ on each K_j whenever $a_j^* \in O$. **Theorem 1.6.4** Suppose that D_1 and D_2 are two connected subsets of D^* and that $D_1 \cap D_2 \neq \emptyset$. If u is X^* -harmonic in D_i for i = 1, 2, then u is X^* -harmonic in $D_1 \cup D_2$.

Proof. Let O be a relatively compact open subset of $D_1 \cup D_2$. Let $\{U_k^{(i)}; k \ge 1\}$ be an increasing sequence of relatively compact open subsets whose union is D_i and $\partial U_k^{(i)}$ is a smooth subset in D for i = 1, 2. Since $\{U_k^{(1)} \cup U_k^{(2)}; k \ge 1\}$ forms an open cover for \overline{O} , there is some $k_0 \ge 1$ so that $\overline{O} \subset U_{k_0}^{(1)} \cup U_{k_0}^{(2)}$. For notational simplicity, denote $U_{k_0}^{(i)}$ by U_i for i = 1, 2. Note that $O_i := O \cap U_i$ is a relatively compact open subset of D_i , i = 1, 2. We claim that for every $x \in O$, $u(x) = \mathbb{E}_x [u(X_{\tau_O}^*)]$. In the following we show that the above holds for every $x \in O_1$. The case for $x \in O_2$ is analogous.

Let $\{\theta_t; t \ge 0\}$ be the shift operator for BMD X^* on D^* . We use $\{\mathcal{F}_t; t \ge 0\}$ to denote the minimal augmented natural filtration generated by X^* . Define a sequence of stopping times as follows. $T_1 := \tau_{O_1}, T_2 := \tau_{O_2}$, and for $k \ge 1$,

$$T_{2k+1} := T_{2k} + \tau_{O_1} \circ \theta_{T_{2k}}$$
 and $T_{2k+2} := T_{2k+1} + \tau_{O_2} \circ \theta_{T_{2k+1}}$.

In view of (1.5.8), $\mathbb{E}_x[\tau_O]$ is a bounded function on O and so $\tau_O < \infty \mathbb{P}_x$ -a.s. for every $x \in O$. Note that $T_k \leq \tau_O$ for every $k \geq 1$. Since u is X^* -harmonic in both D_1 and D_2 , we have for $x \in O_1$, \mathbb{P}_x -a.s.

$$u(X_{T_k}^*) = \mathbb{E}_{X_{T_{k+1}}^*} \left[u(X_{T_{k+1}}^*) | \mathcal{F}_{T_k} \right] \quad \text{for every } k \ge 1.$$

In other words, $\{u(X_{T_k}^*); k \ge 1\}$ is an $\{\mathcal{F}_{T_k}\}_{k\ge 1}$ -martingale under \mathbb{P}_x for every $x \in O_1$. Let $T := \lim_{k\to\infty} T_k$. Since u is bounded and \mathcal{E}^* -quasi-continuous on \overline{O} , we have

$$u(x) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathbb{E}_x \left[u(X_{T_k}^*) \right] = \mathbb{E}_x \left[u(X_T^*) \right].$$

We next show that $T = \tau_O$. Clearly $T \leq \tau_O \mathbb{P}_x$ -a.s.. On $\{T < \tau_O\}$, $X_T^*(\omega) \in O = O_1 \cup O_2$, say, $X_T^*(\omega) \in O_2$. There is some large $k_0 = k_0(\omega)$ so that $X_{T_k}^*(\omega) \in O_2$ for all $k \geq k_0$. This is impossible as for even $k \geq k_0$, $X_{T_k}^* \notin O_2$. So we must have $T = \tau_O \mathbb{P}_x$ -a.s. and consequently, $u(x) = \mathbb{E}_x \left[u(X_{\tau_O}^*) \right]$ for every $x \in O_1$. This shows that u is X^* -harmonic in O for every relatively compact subdomain O of $D_1 \cup D_2$ and so u is X^* -harmonic in $D_1 \cup D_2$. \Box

Let O be a connected open subset of E and v is a harmonic function in $O \cap D$. Suppose that $K_j \in O$. Let U be any relatively compact C^1 -smooth subdomain of O that contains K_j and that $K_i \cap \overline{U} = \emptyset$ for any $i \neq j$. We define

the *period* of v at
$$a_j^*$$
 (or around the compact set K_j) := $\int_{\partial U} \frac{\partial v(x)}{\partial \mathbf{n}} \sigma(dx)$,

where **n** is the inward normal vector field of U on ∂U and σ is the surface measure on ∂U . Note that by the Green-Gauss formula and the harmonicity of v in $O \cap D$, the value on the right hand side is independent of the choice of the subdomain U. Note that $E \setminus K_1$ may be connected or disconnected; see Example 1.1.3(i) and (ii) for these two concrete cases. The next result says that locally an X^* -harmonic function can be expressed as the Green potential of a bounded function with compact support that is supported away from that region.

Lemma 1.6.5 Suppose that v is an X^* -harmonic function in an open subset O_1 of D^* . For any relatively compact open subset $O_2 \subset O_1$, there is a compactly supported bounded function f on D^* with $\operatorname{supp}[f] \cap O_2 = \emptyset$ such that $v = G^*f$ in O_2 .

Proof. Let $\Lambda_i = \{j : a_j^* \in O_i\}$ for i = 1, 2. There is an open subset U_1 of E and a relatively compact open subset U_2 of U_1 so that $\bigcup_{j \in \Lambda_i} K_j \subset U_i$ and $U_i \cap D = O_i \cap D$ for i = 1, 2. Take some $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}(U_1)$ so that $0 \leq \psi \leq 1$ with $\psi = 1$ on U_2 . Define $f(x) = -\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1}_D(x)\Delta(\psi v)(x)$. Note that $f \in L^{\infty}(D; dx)$ and f = 0 on $D \setminus (O_1 \setminus O_2)$. Hence $G^*f \in \mathcal{F}^*$ is X^* -harmonic in $(U_2 \cap D) \cup \{a_i^*, i \in \Lambda_2\}$ and so is $w := \psi v - G^*f$. On the other hand, (1.5.8) implies that w is harmonic and hence X^* -harmonic in D. Thus by Theorem 1.6.4, w is X^* -harmonic in D^* . Since both ψv and G^*f vanish on $\partial E = \partial D^*$, so is w. Thus by maximum principle for the bounded X^* -harmonic function w on D^* (note that a_j^* 's are interior points of D^*), we have w = 0 on D^* , and in particular $v = G^*f$ in O_2 .

Theorem 1.6.6 Let O be a connected open subset of D^* . An \mathcal{E}^* -quasi-continuous function v is X^* -harmonic in O if and only if v is harmonic in $D \cap O$ and the period of v at a_i^* is 0 for every i such that $a_i^* \in O$.

Proof. The assertion trivially holds if O does not contain any a_i^* . In view of Theorem 1.3.1 and Theorem 1.6.4, without loss of generality, we may and do assume that E is bounded with smooth boundary ∂E , $D^* = O$ and that D^* contains exactly one a_1^* (that is, K consists of exactly one compact set K_1).

Since we do not assume that $K \subset K^r$, the function u_1 may not be continuous on K and hence $\{x \in E : u_1(x) > 1 - \varepsilon\}$ may not be an open set that decreases to K as $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$. We will construct a continuous function ψ_1 on E taking values in [0, 1] that is 1 precisely on K, smooth in D and the open set $\{x \in E : u_1(x) > 1 - \varepsilon\}$ decreases to K as $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$. For this, we first recall a result about the regularized distance function. Let $d_K(x)$ denote the Euclidean distance between x and K. By [18, Theorem 2, p. 171], there exists a C^{∞} -smooth function $\delta_K(x)$ in K^c and constants $c_1 > c_2 > 0$ so that

$$c_2 d_K(x) \leq \delta_K(x) \leq c_1 d_K(x)$$
 and $|\nabla \delta_K(x)| \leq c_1$ for every $x \in K^c$.

Clearly, $\delta_K(x)$ extends to be a continuous function on \mathbb{R}^d after setting $\delta_K(x) = 0$ for $x \in K$. Let U_1 and U_2 be relatively compact open subsets of E such that $K_1 \subset U_1 \subset \overline{U}_1 \subset U_2 \subset \overline{U}_2 \subset E$ so that $\delta_K(x) < 1$ for $x \in U_2$. Take some $\psi \in C_c^{\infty}(U_2)$ so that $0 \leq \psi \leq 1$ with $\psi = 1$ on U_1 . Define

$$\psi_1(x) = (1 - \delta_K(x))\psi.$$
(1.6.2)

Clearly, $\psi_1 \in C_c^{\infty}(U_2)$ with $0 \le \psi_1 \le 1$ $\psi_1(x) = 1$ if and only if $x \in K_1$.

Suppose that v is X^* -harmonic in D^* . For $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$, let η_{ε} be the boundary of the connected component of $\{x \in E : \psi_1(x) > 1 - \varepsilon\}$ that contains K_1 . By Sard's theorem (see, e.g., [15]), there is a set \mathcal{N}_0 having zero Lebesgue measure so that for every $\varepsilon \in (0,1) \setminus \mathcal{N}_0$, η_{ε} is a C^{∞} -smooth (d-1)-dimensional hypersurface. Take a decreasing sequence $\{\varepsilon_n, n \geq 1\} \in (0,1) \setminus \mathcal{N}_0$ with $\lim_{n\to\infty} \varepsilon_N = 0$. Since $\{x \in E : \psi_1(x) > 1 - \varepsilon_n\}$ decreases to K_1 , we may assume that each η_{ε_n} is contained inside U_1 . Call the connected component of $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \eta_{\varepsilon}$ that contains K_1 the interior of η_{ε} .

By Lemma 1.6.5, there is a bounded compactly supported function f on D^* with $\operatorname{supp}[f] \cap U_1 = \emptyset$ so that $v = G^* f$ in U_1 . By the Green-Gauss formula, Theorems 1.5.1, 1.5.2 and 1.5.3, we have

period of
$$v$$
 at $a_1^* = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\eta_{\varepsilon_n}} \frac{\partial G^* f(\xi)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_{\xi}} \sigma(d\xi)$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon_n} \int_{\eta_{\varepsilon_n}} \frac{\partial G^* f(\xi)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_{\xi}} \psi_1(\xi) \sigma(d\xi)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon_n} \int_{D \setminus \operatorname{int}(\eta_N)} (\nabla \psi_1 \cdot \nabla G^* f + \psi_1 \Delta G^* f) \, dx$$

$$= \int_D \nabla \psi_1(x) \cdot \nabla G^* f(x) \, dx + \int_D \psi_1(x) \Delta G^* f(x) \, dx$$

$$= 2\mathcal{N}(G^* f)(a_1^*) = 0.$$

Here **n** denote the unit inward normal vector field on η_{ε_n} for the interior of η_{ε_n} .

Conversely, assume that v is an \mathcal{E}^* -quasi-continuous function on D^* that is harmonic in D and has zero period at a_1^* . Let the relatively compact open subsets $U_1 \subset U_2$ of E, the smooth function ψ and the smooth curves η_{ε_n} be defined as above. Set $\varphi(x) = \mathbb{P}_x(\sigma_{a_1^*} < \infty)$. Observe that $\varphi \in W^{1,2}(D)$ and the function $w := \psi v - v(a_1^*)\varphi$ is smooth in D, vanishing **D**-q.e. on ∂D . So $w = G_D f \in W_0^{1,2}(D)$, where $f = -\mathbb{1}_D(x)\frac{1}{2}\Delta w(x)$. We have therefore

$$\psi v = w + v(a_1^*)\varphi \in \mathcal{F}^*$$
 with $\Delta(\psi v) \in L^2(D; dx).$

Since v has zero period at a_1^* , we have by the Green-Gauss formula that

$$0 = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\eta_{\varepsilon_n}} \frac{\partial v(\xi)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_{\xi}} \sigma(d\xi) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\eta_{\varepsilon_n}} \frac{\partial (\psi v)(\xi)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_{\xi}} \sigma(d\xi)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon_n} \int_{\eta_{\varepsilon_n}} \frac{\partial (\psi v)(\xi)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_{\xi}} \psi_1(\xi) \sigma(d\xi)$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon_n} \int_{D \setminus \operatorname{int}(\eta_N)} (\nabla \psi_1 \cdot \nabla (\psi v) + \psi_1 \Delta (\psi v)) \, dx$$

$$= \int_D \nabla \psi_1(x) \cdot \nabla (\psi v)(x) \, dx + \int_D \psi_1(x) \Delta (\psi v)(x) \, dx$$

$$= 2\mathcal{N}(\psi v)(a_1^*),$$

1.7. HARMONIC CONJUGATE

where the last equality is due to Theorem 1.5.2. Hence we conclude by Theorem 1.5.1 that $\psi v \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L})$.

Let $g := -\mathbb{1}_D(x)\frac{1}{2}\Delta(\psi v)(x)$, which is smooth and compactly supported. Define $w_1 = G^*g$, which by Theorem 1.5.3, is in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{L}) \subset \mathcal{F}^*$ with $\mathcal{L}w_1 = -g$. Since

$$\mathcal{E}^*(\psi v - w_1, u) = -(\mathcal{L}(\psi v - w_1), u) = -\frac{1}{2}(\Delta(\psi v - w_1)) = 0 \quad \text{for every } u \in \mathcal{F}^*,$$

and that $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$ is transient, we have $\psi v = w = G^*g$. Since g = 0 and $v = \psi v = G^*g$ on U_1, v is X^* -harmonic in U_1 . This together with Theorem 1.6.4 implies that v is X^* harmonic in D^* .

Remark 1.6.7 Let Y be Brownian motion in E reflected on compact sets K_j , j = 1, ..., N. Then harmonic functions of Y in $D = E \setminus K$ have zero normal derivatives at $K_j \cap \partial D$ and hence zero period around each K_j . However these harmonic functions typically do not take constant values on $K_j \cap \partial D$. BMD-Harmonic functions in $O \subset D^*$ takes constant values on K_j whenever $a_j^* \in O$. This property is important for the Riemann mapping theorem in multiply connected domains in $\mathbb{C} \cong \mathbb{R}^2$; see Section 1.10.

1.7 Harmonic Conjugate

Throughout this section, the dimension d = 2. The next theorem is a consequence of Theorem 1.6.6. Note that in multiply connected planar domains, classical harmonic functions (i.e. with respect to Brownian motion) in D can only *locally* be realized as the imaginary (or real) part of an analytic function in D. Theorem 1.7.1 shows that BMD is the right tool to study complex analysis in multiply connected domains in \mathbb{R}^2 .

Theorem 1.7.1 Suppose that $D := E \setminus K$ is connected. If v is X^* -harmonic on D^* , then $-v|_D$ admits a harmonic conjugate u on D uniquely up to an additive real constant in D so that $f(z) = u(z) + iv(z), z \in D$, is an analytic function in D.

Proof. Fix some $z_0 \in D$ and the value $u(z_0)$. For any $z \in D$, define

$$u(z) = u(z_0) - \int_{\gamma} \frac{\partial v(\xi)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_{\xi}} \sigma(d\xi), \qquad (1.7.1)$$

where γ is a C^2 -smooth simple curve in D that connects z_0 to z, $\sigma(d\xi)$ is the arc-length measure along γ and \mathbf{n} the unit normal vector field along γ in the counter-clockwise direction (that is, if γ is parameterized by (x(t), y(t)), then \mathbf{n} is the unit vector pointing to the same direction as (y'(t), -x'(t))). By the zero period property of v, the value of v(x) is independent of the choice of the smooth C^2 simple curve γ that joins z_0 to z and hence well defined. One checks easily that (u, v) satisfies the Cauchy-Riemann equation and hence f(z) := u(z) + iv(z)is an analytic function in D.

1.8 Boundary Process

Let μ be the counting measure on $K^* = \{a_1^*, \ldots, a_N^*\}$. Since each a_j^* has positive capacity with respect to the Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$, μ is a smooth measure with respect to the BMD X^* . Let A^{μ} be the positive continuous additive functional (PCAF in abbreviation) of X^* having μ as its Revuz measure. Define its inverse

$$\tau_t = \inf\{s > 0 : A_s^{\mu} > t\}.$$

The time changed process $Y_t := X_{\tau_t}^*$ is the trace (boundary) process of X^* on K^* . It is a μ -symmetric continuous-time finite state Markov chain on K^* . Let $(\check{\mathcal{E}}^*, \check{\mathcal{F}}^*)$ be the Dirichlet form of Y on K^* . It is known that $\check{\mathcal{F}}_e^* = \mathcal{F}_e^*|_{K^*}, \check{\mathcal{F}}^* = \check{\mathcal{F}}_e \cap L^2(K^*;\mu)$, which is just $L^2(K^*,\mu)$ as K^* is finite, and

$$\check{\mathcal{E}}^*(u,v) = \mathcal{E}^*(\mathbf{H}_{K^*}u, \mathbf{H}_{K^*}v) = \sum_{i,j=1}^N u(a_i^*)u(a_j^*)\mathcal{E}^*(\varphi_i, \varphi_j) \qquad \text{for } u, v \in \check{\mathcal{F}}^*$$

It follows that Y has infinitesimal generator \mathcal{L}^Y in $L^2(K^*;\mu)$

$$\mathcal{L}^{Y}v(k) = -\sum_{j=1}^{N} \mathcal{E}^{*}(\varphi_{i}, \varphi_{j})v(j) \quad \text{for } v \in \mathbb{R}^{N}.$$

In other words, $(q_{ij} := -\mathcal{E}^*(\varphi_i, \varphi_j))_{1 \le i,j \le N}$ is the *Q*-matrix for the finite-state Markov chain *Y*, which in particular implies that $q_{kj} \ge 0$ for every pair $k \ne j$ and $\sum_{j=1}^N q_{kj} \le 0$ for every $1 \le k \le N$. We can also check the above property directly. Note that for $i \ne j$,

$$\begin{aligned} q_{ij} &= -\mathcal{E}^*(\mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}}, \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}) \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \left(\mathcal{E}^*(\mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} - \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}, \mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} - \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}) - \check{\mathcal{E}}^*(\mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} + \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}, \mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} + \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}) \right) \\ &\geq \frac{1}{4} \left(\mathcal{E}^*(|\mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} - \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}|, |\mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} - \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}|) - \check{\mathcal{E}}^*(\mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} + \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}, \mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} + \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{4} \left(\mathcal{E}^*(\mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} + \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}, \mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} + \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}) - \check{\mathcal{E}}^*(\mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} + \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}, \mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}} + \mathbb{1}_{\{a_j^*\}}) \right) \\ &= 0, \end{aligned}$$

while

$$\begin{split} \sum_{j=1}^{N} q_{ij} &= -\sum_{k=1}^{N} \check{\mathcal{E}}^{*}(\mathbb{1}_{\{a_{i}^{*}\}}, \mathbb{1}_{\{a_{k}^{*}\}}) \\ &= -\sum_{k=1}^{N} \mathcal{E}^{*}(\mathbf{H}_{K^{*}} \mathbb{1}_{\{a_{i}^{*}\}}, \mathbf{H}_{K^{*}} \mathbb{1}_{\{a_{k}^{*}\}}) = \mathcal{E}^{*}(\mathbf{H}_{K^{*}} \mathbb{1}_{\{a_{i}^{*}\}}, \mathbf{H}_{K^{*}} \mathbb{1}_{K^{*}}) \\ &= -\mathbf{D}(\varphi_{i}, \mathbf{H}_{K} \mathbb{1}_{K}) \leq 0 \end{split}$$

as $\mathbf{H}_K \mathbb{1}_K(x) = \mathbb{P}_x(\sigma_K < \infty)$ is the zero-order equilibrium potential of K in E and $\varphi_i \ge 0$. Let

$$\kappa_i = \sum_{j=1}^N \mathcal{E}^*(\mathbb{1}_{\{a_i^*\}}, \mathbb{1}_{\{a_k^*\}}) = -\sum_{k=1}^N q_{ik}$$

Then for $u \in \check{\mathcal{F}}^* = L^2(K^*; \mu)$,

$$\check{\mathcal{E}}^*(u,u) = \frac{1}{2}(u(a_i^*) - u(a_j^*))^2 q_{ij} + \sum_{i=1}^N u(a_i^*)^2 \kappa_i.$$
(1.8.1)

Hence we have the following.

Theorem 1.8.1 The boundary process \check{X}^* on K^* is a Markov chain on K^* with Q-matrix (q_{ij}) ; that is, \check{X}^* is a continuous-time symmetric Markov chain on K^* with jumping intensities q_{ij} for $i \neq j$ and killing rates κ_i .

1.9 Green Function and Poisson Kernel

Recall that G^* is the 0-resolvent of BMD X^* in D^* and G_D is the Green function of Brownian motion X^D in D. The next theorem gives the explicit expression for the Green function $G^*(x, y)$ of X^* .

Theorem 1.9.1 Let $\Phi(z) = (\varphi_1(x), \ldots, \varphi_N(z))$ and \mathcal{A} an $N \times N$ -matrix whose (i, j)component p_{ij} is the period of φ_j around the compact set K_i . Then \mathcal{A} is symmetric and
invertible. For any Borel measurable function $f \geq 0$ on D^* ,

$$G^*f(x) = \int_D G^*(x, y)f(y)m(dy)$$

where

$$G^*(x,y) = G_D(x,y) + 2\Phi(x)\mathcal{A}^{-1} \cdot \Phi(y) \quad \text{for } x \in D^* \text{ and } y \in D.$$
(1.9.1)

Proof. For any $f \in C_c(D)$, by Theorem 1.5.3 and (1.5.8), G^*f is X^* -harmonic in $O := D^* \setminus \text{supp}[f]$ and that

$$G^*f(x) = G_D f(x) + \sum_{j=1}^N G^* f(a_i^*) \varphi_j(z).$$
(1.9.2)

By the same reasoning for the construction of the function ψ_1 in (1.6.2), for each $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$, there is a $\psi_i \in C_c(E)$ so that $0 \leq \psi_1 \leq 1$, $\psi_i \in C_c^{\infty}(D)$, $\psi_i(x) = 1$ if and only if $x \in K_i$, and that ψ_i and ψ_j have disjoint support for $i \neq j$. Now fix $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$. For $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, let η_{ε} be the boundary of the connected component of $\{x \in E : \psi_i(x) > 1 - \varepsilon\}$ that contains K_i . Again by Sard's theorem, there is a set \mathcal{N}_i having zero Lebesgue measure so that

for every $\varepsilon \in (0,1) \setminus \mathcal{N}_i$, η_{ε} is a C^{∞} -smooth (d-1)-dimensional hypersurface. Take a decreasing sequence $\{\varepsilon_n, n \ge 1\} \in (0,1) \setminus \mathcal{N}_i$ with $\lim_{n\to\infty} \varepsilon_N = 0$. Since $\{x \in E : \varphi_i(x) > 1 - \varepsilon_n\}$ decreases to K_j , we may assume that each η_{ε_n} is contained inside O. Let us call the connected component of $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \eta_{\varepsilon}$ that contains K_i the interior of η_{ε} . Since $f \in C_c(D)$, G^*f is X^* -harmonic in a neighborhood of a_i^* and so it has zero period at a_i^* by Theorem 1.6.6. Moreover,

$$G_D f \in W_{0,e}^{1,2}(D)$$
 with $\Delta G_D f = -2f.$ (1.9.3)

By computing the period of both side of (1.9.2) at a_i^* , we deduce from the Green-Gauss formula that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} p_{ij} G^* f(a_j^*) = -\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\eta_{\varepsilon_n}} \frac{\partial G_D f(y)}{\partial \mathbf{n}} \sigma(dy)$$

$$= -\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon_n} \int_{\eta_{\varepsilon_n}} \frac{\partial G_D f(y)}{\partial \mathbf{n}} \psi_i(y) \sigma(dy)$$

$$= -\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 - \varepsilon_n} \int_{D \setminus \operatorname{int}(\eta_{\varepsilon_n})} (\psi_i(y) \Delta G_D f(y) + \nabla \psi_i(y) \cdot \nabla G_D f(y)) dy$$

$$= 2 \int_D \psi_i(y) f(y) dy - \int_D \nabla \psi_i(y) \cdot \nabla G_D f(y) dy.$$
(1.9.4)

Since $\psi_i - \varphi_i$ is a bounded function in $W_{0,e}^{1,2}(D)$, by (1.9.3),

$$\int_D \nabla(\psi_i - \varphi_i)(y) \cdot \nabla G_D f(y) dy = 2 \int_D (\psi_i(y) - \varphi_i(y)) f(y) dy.$$

Thus we have from (1.9.4) that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} p_{ij} G^* f(a_j^*) = 2 \int_D \varphi_i(y) f(y) dy - \int_D \nabla \varphi_i(y) \cdot \nabla G_D f(y) dy$$
$$= 2 \int_D \varphi_i(y) f(y) dy.$$

In the last equality we used the fact that $G_D f \in W^{1,2}_{0,e}(D)$ and φ_i is **D**-orthogonal to $W^{1,2}_{0,e}(D)$. Since $\{\varphi_i; 1 \leq i \leq N\}$ are linearly independent as functions on D and a_i^* 's are non-polar, the above identity implies that \mathcal{A} is invertible and

$$(Gf^*(a_1^*),\ldots,G^*f(a_N^*))^{tr} = 2\mathcal{A}^{-1}\int_D \Phi(y)^{tr}f(y)dy.$$

Here the superscript "tr" stands for vector transpose. This together with (1.9.2) establishes (1.9.1). Since $G^*(z,\zeta)$ is symmetric in x and ζ , it follows from (1.9.1) that \mathcal{A}^{-1} is symmetric and so is \mathcal{A} . This completes the proof of the theorem. \Box

We call the kernel $G^*(x, y)$ the Green function of X^* in D^* .

Lemma 1.9.2 For each $x \in D^*$, $y \to G^*(x, y)$ extends to be an \mathcal{E}^* -quasi-continuous X^* -harmonic function on $D^* \setminus \{x\}$. If $K_j \subset K_j^r$ for each j, then $y \to G^*(x, y)$ extends to be a continuous X^* -harmonic function on $D^* \setminus \{x\}$.

Corollary 1.9.3 For each $j \in \{1, ..., N\}$, the period of $y \mapsto G_D(x, y)$ and $y \mapsto G^*(a_i^*, y)$ around K_j are $-2\varphi_j(x)$ and $2\delta_{ij}$, respectively.

Proof. Computing the period around K_j on both sides of (1.9.1), we have by Theorem 1.6.6 and Lemma 1.9.2 that for $x \in D$, the period of $y \mapsto G_D(x, y)$ around K_j equals

$$-2\Phi(x)\mathcal{A}^{-1}\cdot(p_{j1},\ldots,p_{jn}) = -2\Phi(x)\cdot e_j = -2\varphi_j(x).$$

Here e_j denotes the unit vector in the positive direction of the x_j -axis. Since $G^*(a_j^*, y) = 2\Phi(a_j^*)\mathcal{A}^{-1} \cdot \Phi(y)$, its period around K_j is

$$2\Phi(a_i^*)\mathcal{A}^{-1} \cdot (p_{j1}, \dots, p_{jn}) = 2\Phi(a_i^*) \cdot e_j = 2\varphi_j(a_i^*) = 2\delta_{ij}.$$

Without loss of generality, we may and do assume that ∂E is smooth. We use σ to denote the Lebesgue surface measure on ∂E . Define

$$K^*(x,z) := \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial G^*(x,z)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_z} \quad \text{for } x \in D^* \text{ and } z \in \partial E.$$

Here \mathbf{n}_z denotes the inward normal vector field for E on ∂E . Since $y \mapsto G^*(x, y)$ vanishes continuously on ∂E , $K^*(x, z) \ge 0$ for $x \in D^*$ and $z \in \partial E$. Note that for each fixed $z \in \partial E$, $x \mapsto K^*(x, z)$ is an X*-harmonic function in D^* . We call K^* the Poisson kernel of X*. For each $z \in \partial D$, define

$$K_D(x,z) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial G_D(x,z)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_z} & \text{for } x \in D, \\ 0 & \text{for } x \in K^*, \end{cases}$$

which is the classical Poisson kernel for Brownian motion in D (more precisely, on the part of $\partial E \subset \partial E$). By (1.9.1), we have for $x \in D^*$ and $z \in \partial E$,

$$K^*(x,z) = K_D(x,z) + \Phi(x)\mathcal{A}^{-1} \cdot \frac{\partial\Phi(z)}{\partial\mathbf{n}_z}.$$
(1.9.5)

Recall that X is Brownian motion in \mathbb{R}^d .

Lemma 1.9.4 For every bounded continuous function f on ∂E ,

$$\mathbb{E}_x[f(X_{\tau_D}); X_{\tau_D} \in \partial E] = \int_{\partial E} K_D(x, z) f(z) \sigma(dz) \quad \text{for } x \in D.$$

Proof. When D is a bounded smooth domain, this is a classical result. So the main point of the proof is to take care of the case when ∂K_j may be non-smooth and that E may be possibly unbounded. We first assume that $f \in C_b(\partial E)$ is nonnegative. Let D_k be an increasing sequence of bounded smooth subdomains of D so that $\bigcup_{k\geq 1} D_k = D$, $\overline{D}_k \cap K_j = \emptyset$, the relative interior of $\partial E \cap \partial D_{k+1}$ contains $\partial E \cap \partial D_k$ and $\partial E \subset \bigcup_{k\geq 1} \partial D_k$. Clearly $G_{D_k}(x, y) \leq G_D(x, y)$ and $\lim_{k\to\infty} G_{D_k}(x, y) = G_D(x, y)$ for $x, y \in D$. For $x \in D_k$ and $z \in \partial D_k$, define

$$K_{D_k}(x,z) = \frac{\partial G_{D_k}(x,z)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_z^{(k)}}$$

where $\mathbf{n}_{z}^{(k)}$ is the unit inward normal vector field of D_{k} on ∂D_{k} . It is well known (cf. [16]) that

$$\mathbb{E}_{x}[f(X_{\tau_{D_{k}}}); X_{\tau_{D_{k}}} \in \partial E] = \int_{\partial E \cap \partial D_{k}} K_{D_{k}}(x, z) f(z) \sigma(dz) \quad \text{for every } x \in D_{k}.$$
(1.9.6)

By the strong Markov property of X, one has

$$G_D(x,y) = G_{D_k}(x,y) + \mathbb{E}_x \left[G_D(X_{\tau_{D_k}},y); X_{\tau_{D_k}} \in D \right] \quad \text{for } x \in D_k \text{ and } y \in D.$$
 (1.9.7)

For each $z \in \partial E$, let $\varepsilon > 0$ so that $B(z, 2\varepsilon) \cap D^c = \emptyset$. Fix some $y_0 \in B(z, \varepsilon) \cap D$. By the boundary Harnack principle for Brownian motion, there is a constant $c \ge 1$ so that

$$\frac{G_D(x,y)}{G_D(x,y_0)} \le c \frac{\delta_{\partial E}(y)}{\delta_{\partial E}(y_0)} \quad \text{for every } x \in B(z,2\varepsilon)^c \cap D \text{ and } y \in B(z,\varepsilon).$$

Here $\delta_{\partial E}(y)$ denotes the Euclidean distance between y and ∂E . Taking $y \to z$ along the normal direction at z gives

$$\frac{K_D(x,z)}{G_D(x,y_0)} \le \frac{c}{\delta_{\partial E}(y_0)} \quad \text{for every } x \in B(z,2\varepsilon)^c \cap D.$$
(1.9.8)

It follows from (1.9.7)

$$K_D(x,z) = K_{D_k}(x,z) + \mathbb{E}_x \left[K_D(X_{\tau_{D_k}},z); X_{\tau_{D_k}} \in D \right] \quad \text{for } x \in D \text{ and } z \in \partial E \cap \partial D_k.$$

Similarly, for $x \in D_k$ and $z \in \partial E \cap \partial D_k$,

$$K_{D_{k+1}}(x,z) = K_{D_k}(x,z) + \mathbb{E}_x \left[K_{D_{k+1}}(X_{\tau_{D_k}},z); X_{\tau_{D_k}} \in D_{k+1} \right] \ge K_{D_k}(x,z).$$

Thus in view of (1.9.8), we have

$$K_D(x,z) = \uparrow \lim_{k \to \infty} K_{D_k}(x,z) \quad \text{for } x \in D \text{ and } z \in \partial E.$$

Now taking $k \to \infty$ in (1.9.6), we have by the monotone convergence theorem that the theorem holds for nonnegative $f \in C_b(\partial E)$ and hence for general $f \in C_b(\partial E)$. \Box

Theorem 1.9.5 (i) For each $x \in D^*$, $\int_{\partial E} K^*(x, z)\sigma(dz) \leq 1$; the equality holds if E is bounded.

(ii) For every bounded measurable function f on ∂E , the function

$$\mathbf{H}^*f(x) := \int_{\partial E} K^*(x, z) f(z) \sigma(dz), \quad z \in D^*$$

is well defined and is a bounded X^* -harmonic function in D^* . Moreover, for any point $z \in \partial E$ at which f is continuous,

$$\lim_{x \to z, x \in D} \mathbf{H}^* f(x) = f(z).$$
(1.9.9)

(iii) For every bounded continuous function f on ∂E ,

$$\mathbb{E}_x[f(X^*_{\zeta_-}); X^*_{\zeta_-} \in \partial E] = \int_{\partial E} K^*(x, z) f(z) \sigma(dz) \quad \text{for every } x \in D^*.$$
(1.9.10)

Proof. (i) Let U_j be relatively compact smooth sub-domains of E so that $K_j \subset U_j$, $\overline{U}_i \cap \overline{U}_j = \emptyset$ for $i \neq j$. When E is bounded, it follows from (1.9.5) and the Green-Gauss formula that for $x \in D^*$

$$\int_{\partial E} K^*(x,z)\sigma(dz) = \int_{\partial E} K_D(x,z)\sigma(dz) + \Phi(x)\mathcal{A}^{-1} \cdot \int_{\partial E} \frac{\partial \Phi(z)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_z}\sigma(dz)$$
$$= \int_{\partial E} K_D(x,z)\sigma(dz) + \Phi(x)\mathcal{A}^{-1} \cdot \sum_{j=1}^N \int_{\partial U_j} \frac{\partial \Phi(z)}{\partial \mathbf{n}_z}\sigma(dz)$$
$$= \int_{\partial E} K_D(x,z)\sigma(dz) + \Phi(x)\mathcal{A}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{A}\mathbb{1}$$
$$= \int_{\partial E} K_D(x,z)\sigma(dz) + \sum_{i=1}^N \varphi_i(x)$$
$$= \mathbb{P}_x(X_{\tau_D} \in \partial E) + \sum_{i=1}^N \mathbb{P}_x(X_{\tau_D} \in K_i)$$
$$= 1.$$

We used Lemma 1.9.4 for the second to the last equality.

When E is unbounded, let $\{E_k, k \ge 1\}$ be an increasing sequence of bounded smooth subdomains of E so that $\bigcup_{k\ge 1} E_k = E$, $\bigcup_{k\ge 1} \partial E_k = \partial E$, the relative interior of $\partial D_{k+1} \cap \partial E$ contains $\partial D_k \cap \partial E$, and that $U_j \subset E_1$ for $j = 1, \ldots, N$. Let $D_k := E_k \setminus K$, $D_k^* = D_k \cup$ $\{a_1^*, \ldots, a_N^*\}$. The Green function of Brownian motion X in D_k is denoted by G_{D_k} and the Green function of the BMD in D_k^* is denoted as $G_{D_k}^*$. Similar notations applies to the Poisson kernels K_{D_k} and $K_{D_k}^*$. Recall from Theorem 1.3.1 that the part process X^{*,D_k^*} of BMD X^* in D^* killed upon leaving D_k^* is the BMD in D_k^* . By the same argument as that for (1.9.7)-(1.9.8), we have for every $z \in \partial E$, there is $\varepsilon > 0$ and $y_0 \in D \cap B(z, \varepsilon)$ so that

$$\frac{K^*(x,z)}{G^*(x,y_0)} \le \frac{c}{\delta_{\partial E}(y_0)} \quad \text{for every } x \in B(z,2\varepsilon)^c \cap D \tag{1.9.11}$$

and that

$$K^{*}(x,z) = K^{*}_{D_{k}}(x,z) + \mathbb{E}_{x} \left[K^{*}(X^{*}_{\tau_{D^{*}_{k}}},z); X^{*}_{\tau_{D^{*}_{k}}} \in D^{*} \right] \text{ for } x \in D^{*}_{k} \text{ and } z \in \partial E \cap \partial D_{k}.$$

Similar relation holds with $K^*_{D_{k+1}}$ and D^*_{k+1} in place of K^* and D^* and thus we have

$$K_{D_{k+1}}^*(x,z) \ge K_{D_k}^*(x,z)$$
 for $x \in D_k^*$ and $z \in \partial E \cap \partial D_k$.

It follows from the above two displays that

$$K^*(x,z) = \uparrow \lim_{k \to \infty} K^*_{D_k}(x,z) \quad \text{for } x \in D^* \text{ and } z \in \partial E.$$
(1.9.12)

By Fauto's lemma, for every $z \in D^*$,

$$\int_{\partial E} K^*(x,z)\sigma(dx) \le \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\partial E \cap \partial E_k} K^*_{D_k}(x,z)\sigma(dx) \le \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{\partial E_k} K^*_{D_k}(x,z)\sigma(dx) = 1.$$

This establishes (i).

(ii) The first part follows from the fact that for each $z \in \partial E$, $x \mapsto K^*(x, z)$ is X^* -harmonic in D^* , (i) and Fubini's theorem. It follows from (1.9.5) that

$$\mathbf{H}f(x) = \int_{\partial E} K_D(x, z) f(z) \sigma(dz) + \sum_{j=1}^N c_j \varphi_j(x),$$

for some constants c_1, \ldots, c_N . Defining $f(z) = c_j$ for $z \in K_j$, we then have by Lemma 1.9.4 that $\mathbf{H}f(x) = \mathbb{E}_x [f(X_{\tau_D})]$ for $x \in D$. Property (1.9.9) now follows from the corresponding result for Brownian motion.

(iii) Clearly by the strong Markov property of X^* , $h(x) := \mathbb{E}_x[f(X^*_{\zeta^-})]$ is a bounded X^* harmonic function in D^* . Since the part process $X^{*,D}$ of X^* in D is just the Brownian motion killed upon leaving D, we conclude from the corresponding classical result for Brownian motion that h is continuous up to the boundary $\partial D^* = \partial E$ with boundary value f. On the other hand, we know from (ii) that $\mathbf{H}f$ is also a bounded X^* -harmonic function in D^* that is continuous up to the boundary $\partial D^* = \partial E$ with the same boundary value f. Thus when Eis bounded, by the maximum principle, we must have $h = \mathbf{H}f$. When E is unbounded, let E_k be an increasing sequence of bounded smooth domains approximating E as in the proof of (i) above, $D_k = E_k \setminus K$ and $D^*_k = D \cup \{a^*_1, \ldots, a^*_N\}$. Define $\tau^*_k := \inf\{t > 0 : X^*_t \notin D^*_k\}$. Since

$$\mathbb{E}_x[f(X^*_{\tau^*_k-}); X^*_{\tau^*_k-} \in \partial E] = \int_{\partial E} K^*_{D_k}(x, z) f(z) \sigma(dz) \quad \text{for every } x \in D^*,$$

and $\lim_{k\to\infty} f(X^*_{\tau^*_k-})\mathbb{1}_{\{X^*_{\tau^*_k-}\in\partial E\}} = f(X^*_{\zeta-})\mathbb{1}_{\{X^*_{\zeta-}\in\partial E\}} \mathbb{P}_x$ -a.s., we have by (1.9.12) and the monotone convergence theorem that (1.9.10) holds for nonnegative $f \in C_b(\partial E)$ and hence for general $f \in C_b(\partial E)$. The proof of the theorem is now complete.

1.10 Applications to Complex Analysis

The classical Riemann mapping theorem asserts that any simply connected planar domain can be conformally mapped onto the upper half space H. The Riemann mapping theorem also holds for multiply connected domains. BMD can be used to give an "explicit" comformal mapping that maps multiply connected planar domains into the canonical slit domains.

In this section, let d = 2. Denote by \mathbb{H} the upper half plane in $\mathbb{C} \cong \mathbb{R}^2$. We consider the set

$$D = \mathbb{H} \setminus K$$
, where $K = \bigcup_{j=1}^{N} K_j$, (1.10.1)

for mutually disjoint compact continua K_1, \dots, K_N contained in \mathbb{H} such that for $\mathbb{H} \setminus K_j$ is connected for each j. Let $K^* = \{a_1^*, \dots, a_N^*\}$ obtained from \mathbb{H} by regarding each continuum K_j as a one point a_j^* . Denote by $Z^{\mathbb{H}} = (Z_t^{\mathbb{H}}, \mathbb{P}_z^{\mathbb{H}})$ the absorbing Brownian motion on \mathbb{H} and by $Z^* = (Z_t^*, \mathbb{P}_z^*)$ the BMD on $D^* = D \cup K^*$.

For r > 0, let $\Gamma_r = \{z = x + iy : y = r\}$ and

$$v^*(z) := \lim_{r \to \infty} r \cdot \mathbb{P}_z^*(\sigma_{\Gamma_r} < \infty), \quad z \in D^*.$$
(1.10.2)

Theorem 1.10.1 (i) The function v^* on D^* is well defined and is Z^* -harmonic on D^* .

(ii) $v^*|_D$ admits a unique harmonic conjugate u^* such that $f(z) = u^*(z) + iv^*(z), z \in D$, is analytic on D and

$$f(z) = z + \frac{a}{z} + o(\frac{1}{z}), \qquad z \to \infty$$
 (1.10.3)

for some positive constant a.

(iii) Suppose that each ∂K_i is a piecewise Lipschitz curve. Then the analytic function f is a conformal mapping from $\mathbb{H} \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} K_i$ onto $\mathbb{H} \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} \widetilde{C}_i$, where \widetilde{C}_i , $1 \leq i \leq N$, are mutually disjoint horizontal line segments in \mathbb{H} .

We refer the reader to [7] for a proof of the above theorem. We remark here that the way of constructing v^* in the above theorem is due to G. Lawler [14], where the excursion reflected Brownian motion on the N-connected domain is utilized in place of BMD. The condition "each ∂K_i is a piecewise Lipschitz curve" imposed in Theorem 1.10.1(iii) is a technical assumption. It can be dropped with some extra work.

The complex Poisson kernel $K_D^*(x, z)$ presented in the previous section plays an important role for the chordal Komatu-Loewner equation in multiply connected domains. See [7] for details.

Chapter 2

Boundary Trace of Symmetric Markov Processes

Time change is one of the most basic and very useful transformations for Markov processes, which has been studied by many authors. The following is a prototype of the problem that will be studied in this chapter.

Example 2.0.2 Suppose X is a Lévy process in \mathbb{R}^n that is the sum of a Brownian motion in \mathbb{R}^n and an independent rotationally symmetric α -stable process in \mathbb{R}^n , where $n \geq 1$ and $\alpha \in (0, 2)$. The Dirichlet form associated with X is $(\mathcal{E}, W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n))$, where

$$\mathcal{E}(f,g) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \nabla f(x) \cdot \nabla g(x) dx + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n} (f(x) - f(y)) (g(x) - g(y)) \frac{c(n,\alpha)}{|x - y|^{d + \alpha}} dx dy$$

for $f, g \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Denote by B(x, r) the open ball in \mathbb{R}^n centered at $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with radius r. Its Euclidean closure is denoted by $\overline{B(x, r)}$. Let $F = \overline{B(0, 1)} \cup \partial B(x_0, 1)$, where $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $|x_0| = 3$. What is the trace process of X on the closed set F? See Figure 2.1.

$$\bigcirc$$
 \bigcirc

More precisely, let $\mu(dx) := \mathbb{1}_{\overline{B(0,1)}}(x) dx + \sigma_{\partial B(x_0,1)}(dx)$, where $\sigma_{\partial B(x_0,1)}$ denotes the Lebesgue surface measure of $\partial B(x_0, 1)$. It is easy to see that μ is a smooth measure of X and it uniquely determines a positive continuous additive functional $A^{\mu} = \{A_t^{\mu}, t \ge 0\}$ of X having μ as its Revuz measure. Define its inverse

$$\tau_t := \inf\{s > 0 : A_s^{\mu} > t\} \quad \text{for } t \ge 0.$$

Then the time-changed process $Y_t := X_{\tau_t}$ is a μ -symmetric Markov process on F, which can be regarded as the trace process of X on F. So the more precise question is

Question: Can we characterize the time-changed process Y?

In this Chapter, we will answer the above question in the general setting of a symmetric Markov process and a quasi-closed set F.

2.1 Preliminaries

Let E be a Lusin space, m a σ -finite measure on it and X an m-symmetric right process on E. Let $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ be the Dirichlet form on $L^2(E; m)$ associated with X, which is known to be quasi regular. In view of the quasi homeomorphism method (see $[2, \S 1.4]$, without loss of generality, we may and do assume that E is a locally compact separable metric space, m is a positive Radon measure on E with supp[m] = E, $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ is a regular symmetric Dirichlet form in $L^{2}(E;m)$, and $X = (X_{t}, \mathbb{P}_{x}, \zeta)$ is an *m*-symmetric Hunt process associated with $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$. We will use $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}_e)$ to denote the extended Dirichlet space of $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ and $\mathcal{E}_1 := \mathcal{E} + (\cdot, \cdot)_{L^2(E;m)}$. The expectation with respect to the probability measure \mathbb{P}_x will be denoted as \mathbb{E}_x . We will use the convention that any function defined on E is extended to $E_{\partial} := E \cup \{\partial\}$ by taking value 0 at the cemetery point ∂ that is added to E as a one-point compactification. Every element u in \mathcal{F}_e then admits a quasi continuous version and we will assume that functions in \mathcal{F}_e are always represented by their quasi continuous versions. In the sequel, the abbreviations CAF, PCAF and MAF stands for "continuous additive functional", "positive continuous additive functional" and "martingale additive functional", respectively, whose definitions can be found both in [2]. We also refer readers to the above book for notions such as *m*-polar and \mathcal{E} -quasi everywhere (\mathcal{E} -q.e. in abbreviation) as well as for the following facts.

Consider a Lévy system (N(x, dy), H) for the *m*-symmetric Hunt process X on E. The Revuz measure of the PCAF H of X will be denoted as μ_H . We define

$$J(dx, dy) = N(x, dy)\mu_H(dx) \quad \text{and} \quad \kappa(dx) = N(x, \{\partial\})\mu_H(dx) \tag{2.1.1}$$

as the jumping measure and the killing measure of X (or, equivalently, of $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$). For squareintegrable martingales M and N, we use [M] to denote the quadratic variation process of M, and define their quadratic covariation process [M, N] by ([M + N] - [M - N])/4. The dual predictable projection of [M] and [M, N] are denoted as $\langle M \rangle$ and $\langle M, N \rangle$, respectively. For $u \in \mathcal{F}_e$, the following Fukushima's decomposition holds:

$$u(X_t) - u(X_0) = M_t^{[u]} + N_t^{[u]}, \qquad t \ge 0,$$

where $M^{[u]}$ is a MAF of X of finite energy and $N^{[u]}$ is a CAF of X having zero energy. Let $M^{[u],c}$ be the continuous martingale part of $M^{[u]}$, $M^{[u],j}$ and $M^{[u],k}$ be the purely discontinuous martingales with

$$M_t^{[u],j} - M_{t-}^{[u],j} = (u(X_t) - u(X_{t-}))\mathbb{1}_{\{t < \zeta\}} \quad \text{and} \quad M_t^{[u],k} - M_{t-}^{[u],k} = -u(X_{\zeta-})\mathbb{1}_{\{t = \zeta\}},$$

respectively. Then $M_t^{[u],c} + M^{[u],j} + M^{[u],k}$ is an orthogonal decomposition of $M_t^{[u]}$. $\langle M^{[u]} \rangle$, $\langle M^{[u],c} \rangle$, $\langle M^{[u],j} \rangle$ and $\langle M^{[u],k} \rangle$ are PCAFs of X. We use $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}$, $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^c$, $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^j$ and $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^k$ to denote their Revuz measures on E, respectively. Then

$$\mu_{\langle u \rangle} = \mu^c_{\langle u \rangle} + \mu^j_{\langle u \rangle} + \mu^k_{\langle u \rangle}. \tag{2.1.2}$$

2.1. PRELIMINARIES

It is known that

$$\mu_{\langle u \rangle}^{j}(dx) = \int_{E} (u(x) - u(y))^{2} J(dx, dy) \quad \text{and} \quad \mu_{\langle u \rangle}^{k}(dx) = u(x)^{2} \kappa(dx).$$
(2.1.3)

For $u \in b\mathcal{F}_e$, it holds that

$$\int_{E} f(x)\mu_{\langle u\rangle}(dx) = 2\mathcal{E}(u, uf) - \mathcal{E}(u^{2}, f) \quad \text{for } f \in b\mathcal{F}_{e}.$$
(2.1.4)

Let $\{P_t, t \ge 0\}$ be the transition semigroup of X.

The following facts are well-known; see [2, Chapter 4]. For $u \in L^2(E; m)$, $u \in \mathcal{F}$ if and only if $\sup_{t>0} \frac{1}{t}(u - P_t u, u)_{L^2(E;m)} < \infty$; and for $u \in \mathcal{F}$,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}(u,u) &= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (u - P_t u, u)_{L^2(E;m)} \\ &= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{2t} \mathbb{E}_m \left[(u(X_t) - u(X_0))^2 \right] + \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{2t} \int_E u(x)^2 (1 - P_t 1(x)) m(dx). \ (2.1.5) \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, for $u \in \mathcal{F}_e$,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \int_{E} u(x)^{2} (1 - P_{t} 1(x)) m(dx) = \int_{E} u(x)^{2} \kappa(dx), \qquad (2.1.6)$$

and

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_m \left[(u(X_t) - u(X_0))^2 \right] = \mu^c_{\langle u \rangle}(E) + \mu^j_{\langle u \rangle}(E) + \mu^k_{\langle u \rangle}(E).$$
(2.1.7)

It follows from (2.1.6) and (2.1.7) that for $u \in \mathcal{F}_e$,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_m \left[(u(X_t) - u(X_0))^2; \, t < \zeta \right] = \mu_{\langle u \rangle}^c(E) + \int_{E \times E} (u(x) - u(y))^2 J(dx, dy).$$
(2.1.8)

By (2.1.5) and (2.1.7), the following Beurling-Deny decomposition holds for the Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}(u,u) &= \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle u\rangle}^{c}(E) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle u\rangle}^{j}(E) + \mu_{\langle u\rangle}^{k}(E) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle u\rangle}^{c}(E) + \frac{1}{2}\int_{E\times E}(u(x) - u(y))^{2}J(dx,dy) + \int_{E}u(x)^{2}\kappa(dx) \quad \text{for } u \in \mathcal{F}_{e}. \end{aligned}$$

The above Beurling-Deny decomposition can be regarded as the analogy to symmetric Markov processes of the Lévy-Khinchin formula for Lévy processes. It characterizes the continuous part, the pure jumping part and the killings of the strong Markov process X.

2.2 Time Changes and Trace Dirichlet Forms

Given a PCAF A of the Hunt process X with exceptional set N, let $\mu = \mu_A$ be its Revuz measure and define the support F of A by

$$F = \{ x \in E \setminus N : \mathbb{P}_x(R = 0) = 1 \},$$
(2.2.1)

where $R(\omega) := \inf\{t > 0 : A_t(\omega) > 0\}$. It is known (see [2, (A.3.11) and Theorem 3.3.3]) that F is a nearly Borel finely closed set with respect to the Hunt process $X|_{E\setminus N}$ and thus is quasi closed. We denote $F \cup \{\partial\}$ by F_{∂} regarding it as a topological subspace of E_{∂} . Recall that $X_{\infty}(\omega)$ is defined to be ∂ . The right continuous inverse τ_t of the PCAF A is defined by

$$\tau_t(\omega) = \begin{cases} \inf\{s : A_s(\omega) > t\} & \text{if } t < A_{\zeta(\omega)-}(\omega), \\ \infty & \text{if } t \ge A_{\zeta(\omega)-}(\omega). \end{cases}$$

We let

$$\check{X}_t(\omega) = X_{\tau_t(\omega)}(\omega), \ t \ge 0, \quad \check{\zeta}(\omega) = A_{\zeta(\omega)-}(\omega).$$

It is known (see [2, Theorem A.3.9]) that $\check{X} = (\check{X}_t, \check{\zeta}, \{\mathbb{P}_x\}_{x \in F_{\partial}})$ is a right process with state space $(F_{\partial}, \mathcal{B}^*(F_{\partial}))$, which is called the *time-changed process* of the Hunt process X by the PCAF A. Here $b^*(F_{\partial})$ is the σ -field of nearly Borel measurable subsets of F_{∂} .

Define

$$\mathbf{H}_F g(x) = \mathbb{E}_x \left[g(X_{\sigma_F}); \sigma_F < \infty \right], \quad x \in E, \ g \in \mathcal{B}_+(F).$$
(2.2.2)

The following result is known, due to M. L. Silverstein [17] (and complemented by P.J. Fitzsimmons [10]). See [2, Theorems 5.2.1, 5.2.2 and 5.2.15].

Theorem 2.2.1 \check{X} is an μ -symmetric right process whose associated quasi-regular Dirichlet form $(\check{\mathcal{E}}, \check{\mathcal{F}})$ on $L^2(F; \mu)$ is given by

$$\check{\mathcal{F}} = \mathcal{F}_e \big|_F \cap L^2(F;\mu) \quad and \quad \check{\mathcal{E}}(u|_F,v|_F) = \mathcal{E}(\mathbf{H}_F u, \mathbf{H}_F v) \quad for \ u, v \in \mathcal{F}_e.$$
(2.2.3)

Moreover, the extended Dirichlet space $\check{\mathcal{F}}_e$ of $(\check{\mathcal{E}},\check{\mathcal{F}})$ is given by $\check{\mathcal{F}}_e = \mathcal{F}_e|_F$.

Recall that by [2, Theorem 3.4.8], it holds for $u \in \mathcal{F}_e$ that $\mathbf{H}|u| < \infty$ q.e. on $E, \mathbf{H}_F u \in \mathcal{F}_e$ and

$$\mathcal{E}(\mathbf{H}_F u, v) = 0 \quad \text{for every } v \in \mathcal{F}_{e, E \setminus F}.$$
(2.2.4)

A quasi-support of a measure μ is the smallest (up to \mathcal{E} -q.e. equivalence) quasi closed set outside which the measure does not charge. The the support F of A defined in (2.2.1) is a quasi-support for the Revuz measure μ_A of A (see [2, Theorem 5.2.1(i)]. Conversely, for a non- \mathcal{E} -polar quasi-closed st F, denote by $\overset{\circ}{S}_F$ the totality of positive Radon measures on Echarging no \mathcal{E} -polar set whose quasi support is F. By [2, Lemma 5.2.9], $\overset{\circ}{S}_F \neq \emptyset$; in fact For any strictly positive $L^1(E;m)$ -integrable function g,

$$\mu(B) := \mathbb{P}_{gm}(X_{\sigma_F} \in B, \sigma_F < \infty) \tag{2.2.5}$$

is a measure in $\overset{\circ}{S}_F$. Take any $\mu \in \overset{\circ}{S}_F$ and let A^{μ} be the PCAF of X having Revuz measure μ . The time changed process of X by the inverse of A^{μ} can be called trace process of X on F. Trace process on F is not unique. In view of Theorem 2.2.1 (with state space F in place of E), two trace processes on F are related to each other by a time change. Note every quasi closed set is finely closed q.e. Since we are only concerned with assertions holding q.e., we may and do assume F is finely closed.

Our goal is to derive the Buerling-Deny decomposition for the extended Dirichlet space $\check{\mathcal{F}}_e$ of the trace Dirichlet form $(\check{\mathcal{E}},\check{\mathcal{F}})$ on F, as it yields information on the diffusive, jumping and killing part of the trace process \check{X} .

Let $E_0 := E \setminus F$, and for simplicity, denote \mathbf{H}_F by \mathbf{H} . For $u \in \mathcal{F}_e$,

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{E}}(u|_{F}, u|_{F}) &= \mathcal{E}(\mathbf{H}u, \mathbf{H}u) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}(E) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{k}(E) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{c}(F) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{j}(F) + \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{k}(F) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}(E_{0}) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{k}(E_{0}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{c}(F) + \frac{1}{2}\int_{E\times F}(\mathbf{H}u(x) - u(y))^{2}J(dx, dy) + \int_{F}u(x)^{2}\kappa(dx) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}(E_{0}) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{k}(E_{0}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{c}(F) + \frac{1}{2}\int_{F\times F}(u(x) - u(y))^{2}J(dx, dy) + \int_{F}u(x)^{2}\kappa(dx) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\int_{E_{0}\times F}(\mathbf{H}u(x) - u(y))^{2}J(dx, dy) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}(E_{0}) + \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{k}(E_{0}). \end{split}$$

$$(2.2.6)$$

For the remaining part of this chapter, we investigate the last three terms and their probabilistic meanings. Denote by X^0 the part process of X killed upon leaving E_0 . Its α order potential will be denoted by U^0_{α} . During the investigation, we need to evaluate $\nu(E_0)$ from its potential $U^0\nu$. Since $\mathcal{E}(U^0\nu, f) = \int_{E_0} f(x)\nu(dx)$ for $f \in \mathcal{F}_{E_0}$, heuristically, $\nu(E_0)$ is the limit of $\mathcal{E}(U^0\nu, f)$ by taking bounded nonnegative $f \in \mathcal{F}^+_{E_0}$ that increases to 1. This calls on the introduction of the energy functional, which can be viewed as an extension of the energy form \mathcal{E} in certain sense.

2.3 Energy Functional

In this section, we introduce the notion of energy functional. Though we will only need it for part process X^0 , since it has independent interest, we formulate it and study its basic properties for a general transient symmetric right process.

In this section, let E be a Hausdorff topological space whose Borel field is generated by continuous functions, m be σ -finite measure on E with $\operatorname{supp}[m] = E$, $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ be a quasiregular Dirichlet form on $L^2(E; m)$, and $X = (X_t, \mathbb{P}_x, \zeta)$ be an m-symmetric special Borel standard process on E that is properly associated with the form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$. Our basic additional assumption in this section is the transience of $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$, or, equivalently that of X. $\{P_t; t \ge 0\}$ and $\{R_{\alpha}; \alpha > 0\}$ will denote the transition function and resolvent kernel of X, respectively. The 0-order resolvent kernel R_0 will be denoted by R.

Let S(E) be the space of smooth measures on E for $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$: $\nu \in S(E)$ if and only if ν is a Borel measure on E charging no \mathcal{E} -polar set and there is an \mathcal{E} -nest $\{F_k, k \ge 1\}$ such that $\nu(F_k) < \infty$ for each k. We write as $\nu \in S_0^{(0)}(E)$ if $\nu \in S(E)$ and, for some constant C > 0.

$$\int_{E} |v(x)|\nu(dx) \le C ||v||_{\mathcal{E}}, \quad \forall v \in \mathcal{F}_{e},$$

or, equivalently, there exists a function $U\nu \in \mathcal{F}_e$ such that

$$\mathcal{E}(U\nu, v) = \int_{E} v(x)\nu(dx) \quad \text{for every } v \in \mathcal{F}_{e}.$$
(2.3.1)

 $\nu \in S_0^{(0)}(E)$ is called a measure of finite 0-order energy integral and $U\nu$ is called the 0-order potential of $\nu \in S_0^{(0)}(E)$.

For $\alpha > 0$, the α -order potential $U_{\alpha}\nu$ of $\nu \in S_0^{(0)}(E)$ is also well defined as an element of \mathcal{F} satisfying the above equation with \mathcal{E}_{α} , \mathcal{F} in place of \mathcal{E} , \mathcal{F}_e , respectively.

We now introduce the notion of an energy functional for the *m*-symmetric Borel standard process X properly associated with $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$. We denote by $\langle \nu, f \rangle$ or $\langle f, \nu \rangle$ the integral $\int_E f d\nu$ for a measure ν and a function f, and by (f, g) the integral $\int_E f g dm$ for functions f, g on E whenever they make sense.

A universally measurable function f defined q.e. on E will be called q.e. *excessive* relative to X if it is finite excessive q.e. in the sense that, for some \mathcal{E} -polar set $N \subset E$ and every $x \in E \setminus N$,

$$0 \le f(x) < \infty, \qquad P_t f(x) \uparrow f(x) \text{ as } t \downarrow 0.$$
 (2.3.2)

Without loss of generality, we can take as N a properly exceptional set in the above definition. A q.e. excessive function f is called q.e. *purely excessive* if

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} P_t f(x) = 0, \quad \forall x \in E \setminus N,$$
(2.3.3)

for some \mathcal{E} -polar set N. We denote by $\mathcal{S}(E)$ the totality of q.e. excessive functions on E relative to X and

$$\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{pur}}(E) := \{ f \in \mathcal{S}(E) : f \text{ is q.e. purely excessive} \}.$$

For any $f \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{pur}}(E)$ and $g \in \mathcal{S}(E)$, we define

$$L(f,g) := \uparrow \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{t} (f - P_t f, g)$$

$$(2.3.4)$$

and call it the *energy functional*. Here $\uparrow \lim_{t\downarrow 0}$ means that it is an increasing limit as $t \downarrow 0$. In fact, if we denote $(f - P_t f, g)$ by e(t), then for s, t > 0,

$$e(t+s) = e(t) + (P_t f - P_{t+s} f, g) = e(t) + (P_t (f - P_s f), g)$$

2.3. ENERGY FUNCTIONAL

$$= e(t) + (f - P_s f, P_t g). (2.3.5)$$

This subadditivity implies that (2.3.4) is an increasing limit.

It also holds that

$$L(f,g) = \uparrow \lim_{\alpha \uparrow \infty} \alpha (f - \alpha R_{\alpha} f, g), \qquad (2.3.6)$$

where $\uparrow \lim_{\alpha \uparrow \infty}$ means that it is an increasing limit as $\alpha \uparrow \infty$. This is because

$$\alpha(f - \alpha R_{\alpha}f, g) = \int_0^\infty e^{-t} (t/\alpha)^{-1} (f - P_{t/\alpha}f, g) t dt.$$

The notion L is a special case of the energy functional of a purely excessive measure and an excessive function in the context of a general right process.

Lemma 2.3.1 (i) For any $f \in S^{pur}(E)$, let $N \subset E$ be an X-properly exceptional set outside which (2.3.2) and (2.3.3) hold. Put

$$f_t(x) = \frac{1}{t}(f(x) - P_t f(x)), \quad x \in E \setminus N.$$
 (2.3.7)

Then, for each $x \in E \setminus N$,

$$Rf_t(x) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t P_s f(x) ds \uparrow f(x) \quad t \downarrow 0.$$

(ii) For any $g \in \mathcal{S}(E)$, there exists an increasing sequence of non-negative universally measurable functions $\{g_n, n \ge 1\}$ such that for q.e. $x \in E$,

$$Rg_n(x) \uparrow g(x) \quad as \ n \uparrow \infty.$$

Proof. (i) For each T > 0, we have for every $t \in (0, T)$

$$\int_{0}^{T} P_{s}f_{t}(x)ds = \frac{1}{t} \int_{0}^{T} P_{s}f(x)ds - \frac{1}{t} \int_{t}^{T+t} P_{s}f(x)ds$$
$$= \frac{1}{t} \int_{0}^{t} P_{s}f(x)ds - \frac{1}{t} \int_{T}^{T+t} P_{s}f(x)ds.$$

Since the last term is bounded by $P_T f(x)$, we get by letting $T \to \infty$ the identity $Rf_t(x) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t P_s f(x) ds$, which in turn increases to f(x) as $t \downarrow 0$.

(ii) Take a strictly positive *m*-integrable Borel function *h* on *E*. *Rh* is *X*-excessive and strictly positive on *E*. We shall show that $Rh \in \mathcal{S}^{pur}(E)$. By [2, Proposition 2.1.3], $Rh < \infty$ *m*-a.e. and so \mathcal{E} -q.e. by [2, Theorem A.2.13 and Theorem 2.1.3]. Further, *Rh* is q.e. purely excessive because $P_tRh(x) = \int_t^\infty P_sh(x)ds \leq Rh(x) < \infty$ q.e.

We now let $v_n = g \land (nRh)$. Then $v_n \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{pur}}(E)$ and v_n increases to g as $n \to \infty$. By (i), $R(v_n)_t$ increases to v_n as $t \downarrow 0$. Since $R(v_n)_t(x) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t P_s v_n(x) ds$ increases as $n \uparrow$ and $t \downarrow$ and admits g as the supremum in two variables (n, t), we see that $Rg_n \uparrow g$ q.e. as $n \to \infty$ for $g_n = (v_n)_{1/n}$.

Theorem 2.3.2 The energy functional L defined by (2.3.4) enjoys the following properties:

- (i) If f = Rh for some $h \in \mathcal{B}^*_+(E)$ and $f < \infty$ q.e. on E, then $f \in \mathcal{S}^{pur}(E)$ and $L(f,g) = (h,g)_E$ for every $g \in \mathcal{S}(E)$.
- (ii) If $f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{pur}}(E)$ satisfy $f_1 \leq f_2$, m-a.e. on E, then

 $L(f_1,g) \leq L(f_2,g)$ for every $g \in \mathcal{S}(E)$.

(iii) If f_n , $f \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{pur}}(E)$ with $f_n \uparrow f$ as $n \to \infty$, then

 $L(f_n,g) \uparrow L(f,g)$ as $n \uparrow \infty$ for every $g \in \mathcal{S}(E)$.

(iv) For $f \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{pur}}(E), g \in \mathcal{S}(E)$,

$$L(f,g) = \sup\{(h,g) : Rh \le f, h \in \mathcal{B}^*_+(E)\}.$$

(v) If $f \in S^{pur}(E)$ and f equals the 0-order potential $U\nu$ of some measure $\nu \in S_0^{(0)}(E)$, then

 $L(f,g) = \langle \nu, g \rangle$ for every $g \in \mathcal{S}(E)$.

(vi) If $f, g \in S^{pur}(E)$, then L(f, g) = L(g, f).

Proof. (i) In this case, we see in the same way as in the proof of Lemma 2.3.1(ii) that $f \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{pur}}(E)$. Since, for any $g \in \mathcal{S}(E)$,

$$(f_t,g)_E = \frac{1}{t} \left(\int_0^t P_s h ds, g \right) \uparrow (h,g) \quad \text{as } t \downarrow 0,$$

we get (i).

(ii) and (iii) For any $g \in \mathcal{S}(E)$, choose a sequence $\{g_n\}$ as in Lemma 2.3.1(ii). By symmetry of R and Lemma 2.3.1, we interchange the order of taking increasing limits to get for any $f \in \mathcal{S}^{pur}(E)$

$$L(f,g) = \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \lim_{k \to \infty} (f_t, Rg_k) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \lim_{t \downarrow 0} (Rf_t, g_k) = \lim_{k \to \infty} (f, g_k),$$

from which follow (ii) and (iii) immediately.

(iv) Let $f \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{pur}}(E)$, $g \in \mathcal{S}(E)$. If $Rh \leq f$ for $h \in \mathcal{B}^*_+(E)$, then (i) and (ii) imply $(h,g)_E = L(Rh,g) \leq L(f,g)$. Since $f_t \geq 0$ and $Rf_t \uparrow f$ as $t \downarrow 0$, we obtain from (i) and (iii) that $(f_t,g)_E = L(Rf_t,g) \uparrow L(f,g)$ as $t \downarrow 0$, yielding (iv).

(v) Let $h_{\alpha} = \alpha(U\nu - \alpha R_{\alpha}U\nu)$, $\alpha > 0$. We can then deduce from the resolvent identity that $h_{\alpha} = \alpha U_{\alpha}\nu$. Take a strictly positive function $w \in \mathcal{B}^*_+(E) \cap L^2(E;m)$ and put $g_k = g \wedge (kw)$. Then we have

$$(h_{\alpha}, g_k) = \alpha \mathcal{E}_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha}\nu, R_{\alpha}g_k) = \alpha \langle \nu, R_{\alpha}g_k \rangle$$

The second identity in the above holds because $R_{\alpha}g_k$ is an \mathcal{E} -quasi-continuous element of \mathcal{F} due to the proper association of X with $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$. We let $k \to \infty$ to get $(h_{\alpha}, g)_E = \alpha \langle \nu, R_{\alpha}g \rangle_E$. It follows that

$$(h_{\alpha},g) \uparrow \langle \nu,g \rangle \quad \text{as } \alpha \uparrow \infty,$$

which yields (v) in view of (2.3.6).

(vi) Define $f_s = \frac{1}{s}(f - P_s f)$, $g_t = \frac{1}{t}(g - P_t g)$ and look at the identity

$$(Rf_s, g_t) = (f_s, Rg_t).$$

By virtue of Lemma 2.3.1 and (2.3.4), the right hand side increases to (f_s, g) as $t \downarrow 0$, which then increases to L(f, g) as $s \downarrow 0$. Changing the order of the increasing limits, the left hand side converges to L(g, f).

2.4 Trace Dirichlet Forms and Feller Measures

We return to the setting and convention made at the beginning of this chapter: we consider an *m*-symmetric irreducible Hunt process $X = (X_t, \mathbb{P}_x)$ whose Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ on $L^2(E; m)$ is regular and every element in \mathcal{F}_e is represented by its quasi continuous version already. The transition function and resolvent kernel of X are denoted by $\{P_t; t \ge 0\}$ and $\{R_{\alpha}; \alpha > 0\}$, respectively.

Let F be a nearly Borel and finely closed subset F of E having positive \mathcal{E}_1 -capacity. Set $E_0 = E \setminus F$. Let

$$\tau_0 := \tau_{E_0} = \inf\{t \in [0, \zeta] : X_t \notin E_0\}, \tag{2.4.1}$$

so that $\tau_0 = \sigma_F \wedge \zeta \mathbb{P}_x$ -a.s. for $x \in E_0$, where $\sigma_F := \inf\{t > 0 : X_t \in F\}$. The part process X^0 of X on E_0 is then defined by $X^0 = (X_t^0, \zeta^0, \mathbb{P}_x)_{x \in E_0}$, where

$$\zeta^{0}(\omega) =: \tau_{0}(\omega) \text{ and } X^{0}_{t}(\omega) = \begin{cases} X_{t}(\omega) & \text{for } t < \zeta^{0}(\omega); \\ \partial & \text{for } t \ge \zeta^{0}(\omega). \end{cases}$$
(2.4.2)

We refer the following facts about the basic properties of X^0 to Section 5.5 of [2]. The part process X^0 is an *m*-symmetric standard process on E_0 . The Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}^0, \mathcal{F}^0)$ of X^0 on $L^2(E_0; m)$ can be identified with the part of $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ on E_0 :

$$\mathcal{F}^{0} = \{ u \in \mathcal{F} : u = 0 \ \mathcal{E}\text{-q.e. on } F \} \text{ and } \mathcal{E}^{0} = \mathcal{E}|_{\mathcal{F}^{0} \times \mathcal{F}^{0}}.$$
(2.4.3)

 $(\mathcal{E}^0, \mathcal{F}^0)$ is a transient quasi-regular Dirichlet form on $L^2(E_0; m)$ and the standard process X^0 is properly associated with it. Therefore, X^0 can be considered as a special Borel standard process by restricting it to the complement of its suitable properly exceptional set if necessary.

A set $N \subset E_0$ is \mathcal{E}^0 -polar if and only if it is \mathcal{E} -polar, and a function on E_0 os \mathcal{E} -quasicontinuous if and only if it is \mathcal{E}^0 -quasi-continuous. The extended Dirichlet space \mathcal{F}_e^0 of $(\mathcal{E}^0, \mathcal{F}^0)$ is given by

$$\mathcal{F}_e^0 = \{ u \in \mathcal{F}_e : u = 0 \quad \mathcal{E}\text{-q.e. on } F \}.$$
(2.4.4)

Every element in \mathcal{F}_e^0 is represented by its quasi continuous and hence \mathcal{E}^0 -quasi-continuous version. Let $S(E_0)$, $S_0^{(0)}(E_0)$ denote the spaces of smooth measures and measures of finite 0-order energy integrals on E_0 , respectively. The 0-order potential of $\nu \in S_0^{(0)}(E_0)$ is designated by $U^0\nu$.

The transition function, the resolvent kernel, and the 0-order resolvent kernel of X^0 will be denoted by $\{P_t^0; t \ge 0\}$, $\{R_{\alpha}^0; \alpha > 0\}$, and R^0 , respectively. $\mathcal{S}(E_0)$ (resp. $\mathcal{S}^{\text{pur}}(E_0)$) will denote the space of X^0 -q.e. excessive functions (resp. X^0 -q.e. purely excessive functions) on E_0 . Finally we define the energy functional $L^0(f,g)$, $f \in \mathcal{S}^{\text{pur}}(E_0)$, $g \in \mathcal{S}(E_0)$, for X^0 by (2.3.4).

For $\alpha \geq 0$, let \mathbf{H}^{α} denote the α -order hitting measure of F; that is,

$$\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}(x,B) = \mathbb{E}_x \left[e^{-\alpha \tau_0} \mathbb{1}_B(X_{\tau_0}); \, \tau_0 < \infty \right] \quad \text{for } x \in E_0 \text{ and } B \in \mathcal{B}(F).$$

When $\alpha = 0$, \mathbf{H}^0 will simply be denoted by \mathbf{H} . Since F is a finely closed set, $\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}(x, \cdot)$ is carried by F. For $f \in \mathcal{B}^*_+(F)$, define

$$\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}f(x) := \mathbb{E}_x[e^{-\alpha\tau_0}f(X_{\tau_0}); \tau_0 < \infty] \quad \text{for } x \in E.$$

It is easy to check by using the Markov property of X^0 that for any $\alpha, \beta \ge 0$,

$$\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}f(x) - \mathbf{H}^{\beta}f(x) + (\alpha - \beta)R^{0}_{\alpha}\mathbf{H}^{\beta}f(x) = 0, \ x \in E_{0}, \ f \in b\mathcal{B}^{*}(F).$$
(2.4.5)

For any $f \in \mathcal{B}^*_+(F)$ and $\alpha \ge 0$, $\mathbf{H}^{\alpha} f$ is α -excessive with respect to the part process X^0 because, for each $x \in E_0$,

$$e^{-\alpha t} P_t^0 \mathbf{H}^{\alpha} f(x) = \mathbb{E}_x[e^{-\alpha \tau_0} f(X_{\tau_0}); t < \tau_0 < \infty] \uparrow \mathbf{H}^{\alpha} f(x) \quad \text{as } t \downarrow 0.$$
(2.4.6)

Therefore, $\mathbf{H}f \in \mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{pur}}(E_0)$ whenever $f \in b\mathcal{B}^*_+(F)$. In particular, $\mathbf{H}u$ is a member of $\mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{pur}}(E_0)$ for any $u \in (\mathcal{F}_e)_+$.

Define $q(x) := 1 - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{1}(x) = \mathbb{P}_x(\tau_0 = \zeta)$. For $f, g \in b\mathcal{B}_+(F)$, define

$$U(f \otimes g) := L^0(\mathbf{H}f, \mathbf{H}g) \quad \text{and} \quad V(f) := L^0(\mathbf{H}f, q).$$
(2.4.7)

By Theorem 2.3.2, U is a symmetric bimeasure on $F \times F$ and V is a measure on F. U will be called the *Feller measure* for F and V will be called the *supplementary Feller measure* for F. Notice that $q \in \mathcal{S}(E_0)$ but q is not necessarily a member of $\mathcal{S}^{\text{pur}}(E_0)$.

Recall that for $u \in \mathcal{F}_e$, the following Fukushima's decomposition holds uniquely:

$$u(X_t) - u(X_0) = M_t^{[u]} + N_t^{[u]}$$
 for $t \ge 0$,

where $M^{[u]}$ is a martingale additive functional of X having finite energy and $N^{[u]}$ is a continuous additive functional of X having zero energy. In the sequel, we will use $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}$ to denote the Revuz measure for the predictable quadratic variation $\langle M^{[u]} \rangle$ for the square integrable martingale $M^{[u]}$.

Let (N(x, dy), H) denote a Lévy system for the *m*-symmetric Hunt process X on E. The Revuz measure of the PCAF H of X will be denoted as μ_H . As before, we define

$$J(dx, dy) := N(x, dy)\mu_H(dx) \quad \text{and} \quad \kappa(dx) := N(x, \{\partial\})\mu_H(dx)$$

as the jumping measure and the killing measure of X (or, equivalently, of $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$).

Lemma 2.4.1 (i) For any $u \in b\mathcal{F}_e$, let $w = \mathbf{H}(u^2) - (\mathbf{H}u)^2$. Then $w \in b\mathcal{F}_e^0 \cap \mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{pur}}(E_0)$ and $w = U^0 \nu$ with $\nu = \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u \rangle}|_{E_0} \in S_0^{(0)}(E_0)$.

(ii) Assume that $m(E_0) < \infty$. Then

$$\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}(E_0) + \int_{E_0} (\mathbf{H}u)^2(x)\kappa(dx)$$

=
$$\lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \alpha(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha} 1, w)_{E_0} + \int_F u(x)^2 V(dx).$$
 (2.4.8)

Proof. By Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, $w \ge 0$. Since $b\mathcal{F}_e$ is an algebra and w = 0 q.e. on F, we have $w \in b\mathcal{F}_e^0$. For $v \in b\mathcal{F}_e^0$, $v\mathbf{H}u \in \mathcal{F}_e^0$ and so by (2.1.4) and (2.2.4),

$$\mathcal{E}^{0}(w,v) = -\mathcal{E}((\mathbf{H}u)^{2},v) = \int_{E} v(x)\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}(dx) - 2\mathcal{E}(v\mathbf{H}u,\mathbf{H}u)$$
$$= \int_{E} v(x)\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}(dx) = \int_{E_{0}} v(x)\nu(dx).$$

This proves that $w = U^0 \nu$ and w is an excessive function in \mathcal{F}^0 . Clearly,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} P_t^0 w(x) = 0 \quad \text{for } x \in E_0.$$

Therefore $w \in \mathcal{S}^{\mathrm{pur}}(E_0)$.

We next show the identity (2.4.8). We have by Theorem 2.3.2(v), (vi) that

$$\nu(E_0) = L^0(w, 1) = L^0(w, \mathbf{H}_1) + L^0(w, q) = L^0(\mathbf{H}_1, w) + L^0(w, q).$$
(2.4.9)

Thus by (2.3.6) and (2.4.5),

$$\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}(E_0) = \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \alpha(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha} 1, w)_{E_0} + L^0(w, q).$$
(2.4.10)

On the other hand, owing to the assumption that $m(E_0) < \infty$, the boundedness of u and the symmetry of $\{P_t^0\}$, we have

$$L^{0}(w,q) = L^{0}(\mathbf{H}(u^{2}),q) - \lim_{t \downarrow 0} \frac{1}{t}((\mathbf{H}u)^{2},q - P_{t}^{0}q)_{E_{0}}$$

$$= \int_F u(x)^2 V(dx) - \int_{E_0} \mathbf{H} u(x)^2 \kappa(dx),$$

where the last equality is due to the following lemma. This together with (2.4.10) yields 2.4.8.

Observe that as As $q(x) = 1 - \mathbf{H}\mathbf{1}(x) = \mathbb{P}_x(\tau_0 = \zeta),$

$$q(x) - P_t^0 q(x) = \mathbb{P}_x(\tau_0 = \zeta) - \mathbb{P}_x(\tau_0 = \zeta, t < \tau_0) = \mathbb{P}_x(t \ge \tau_0 = \zeta).$$

Lemma 2.4.2 For $u \in b\mathcal{F}_e$,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \int_{E_0} \mathbf{H} u(x)^2 \mathbb{P}_x(t \ge \tau_0 = \zeta) m(dx) = \int_{E_0} \mathbf{H} u(x)^2 \kappa(dx).$$

Proof. Write $\mathbb{P}_x(t \ge \tau_0 = \zeta) = q_1(t, x) + q_2(t, x)$, where

$$\begin{cases} q_1(t,x) = \mathbb{P}_x(t \ge \tau_0 = \zeta, \ X_{\zeta-} \in E_0), \\ q_2(t,x) = \mathbb{P}_x(t \ge \tau_0 = \zeta, \ X_{\zeta-} = \partial). \end{cases}$$

Since $\mathbf{H}u \in \mathcal{F}_e$ and $q_2(t, x) \leq \mathbb{P}_x(t \geq \zeta, X_{\zeta-} = \partial)$, it follows from [2, Proposition 4.2.3] that $\langle (\mathbf{H}u)^2, q_2(t, \cdot) \rangle_{E_0} = o(t)$, while we get from the Lévy system formula with $T = t \wedge \tau_0$, h = 1 and $f(x, y) = \mathbb{1}_{E_0}(x)\mathbb{1}_{\{\partial\}}(y)$ that

$$q_1(t,x) = \mathbb{E}_x \left[\sum_{s \le t \land \tau_0} \mathbb{1}_{E_0}(X_{s-}) \mathbb{1}_{\{\partial\}}(X_s) \right]$$
$$= \mathbb{E}_x \left[\int_0^{t \land \tau_0} \mathbb{1}_{E_0}(X_s) N(X_s, \{\partial\}) dH_s \right].$$

By noting that $A_t := \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_0} \mathbb{1}_{E_0}(X_s) N(X_s, \{\partial\}) dH_s$ is the PCAF of X^0 with Revuz measure $\mathbb{1}_{E_0}(x) \kappa(dx)$, we get

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} ((\mathbf{H}u)^2, q_1(t, \cdot))_{E_0} = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \int_{E_0} (\mathbf{H}u)^2(x) \mathbb{E}_x[A_t] m(dx)$$
$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \int_{E_0} \left(\frac{1}{t} \int_0^t P_s^0\left((\mathbf{H}u)^2 \right)(x) ds \right) \kappa(dx).$$

Since $(\mathbf{H}u)^2 \leq \mathbf{H}u^2$, one has $\frac{1}{t} \int_0^t P_s^0((\mathbf{H}u)^2)(x) ds \leq \mathbf{H}u^2(x)$, which we will show to be integrable with respect to the killing measure κ . Hence by the dominated convergence theorem, we obtain from the above display that

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} ((\mathbf{H}u)^2, q_1(t, \cdot))_{E_0} = \int_{E_0} (\mathbf{H}u)^2(x) \kappa(dx).$$

2.4. TRACE DIRICHLET FORMS AND FELLER MEASURES

This combined with (2.4.10) proves identity (2.4.8) provided that

$$\int_{E_0} \mathbf{H} u^2(x) \kappa(dx) < \infty.$$

We now show that $\int_{E_0} \mathbf{H} u^2(x) \kappa(dx) < \infty$. Note that as $\mathbf{H} u^2 = (\mathbf{H} u)^2 + U^0 \nu$ and $\mathbf{H} u \in \mathcal{F}_e$, it suffices to show that $U^0 \nu$ is integrable on E_0 with respect to κ . Intuitively,

$$\int_{E_0} U^0 \nu(x) \kappa(dx) = \int_{E_0} U^0 \kappa|_{E_0}(x) \nu(dx) \le \int_{E_0} U^0 \kappa_{E_0}(x) \nu(dx) \le \nu(E_0) < \infty.$$

Here $\kappa_{E_0}(dx) := \kappa|_D(dx) + N(x, F)\mu_H(dx)|_D$ is the killing measure for the part process X^0 and so $U^0\kappa_{E_0}(x) = \mathbb{P}_x(X^0_{\zeta^0_-} \in E_0) \leq 1$ for $x \in E_0$. To show it rigorously, we use approximation. As κ is a smooth measure of X, there is (cf. [2, Theorem 2.3.15]) an \mathcal{E} -nest $\{F_k\}$ with $\mathbb{1}_{F_k} \cdot \kappa \in S_0$, $k \geq 1$ and so that $\mathbb{1}_{F_k^0} \cdot \kappa \in S_0(E_0)$ for $F_k^0 = F_k \cap E_0$, $k \geq 0$. The Revuz correspondence (see [2, Proposition 4.1.10] then implies that $x \mapsto \mathbb{E}_x \left[\int_0^{\tau_0} e^{-\alpha t} \mathbb{1}_{F_k}(X_t) dA_t\right]$ is an \mathcal{E}^0 -quasi-continuous version of the potential $U^0_\alpha(\mathbb{1}_{F_k^0} \cdot k) \in \mathcal{F}^0$ for each $\alpha > 0$. Since $\nu = \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u \rangle}|_{E_0} \in S_0^{(0)}(E_0)$ and $\mathbb{E}_x[A_{\tau_0}] = q_1(\infty, x) \leq 1$ for q.e. $x \in E_0$, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{E_0} U^0_{\alpha} \nu(x) \kappa(dx) &= \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{E_0} U^0_{\alpha} \nu(x) (\mathbbm{1}_{F^0_k} \cdot \kappa)(dx) \\ &= \lim_{k \to \infty} \mathcal{E}^0_{\alpha} (U^0_{\alpha} \nu, U^0_{\alpha} (\mathbbm{1}_{F_k} \kappa)) \\ &= \lim_{k \to \infty} \int_{E_0} \mathbb{E}_x \left[\int_0^{\tau_0} e^{-\alpha t} \mathbbm{1}_{F_k} (X_t) dA_t \right] \nu(dx) \\ &\leq \nu(E_0) = \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u \rangle}(E_0) \leq 2\mathcal{E}(u, u) < \infty. \end{split}$$

As $\alpha \downarrow 0$, $U^0_{\alpha} \nu$ increases to $U^0 \nu$ q.e. on E_0 and so we conclude by the monotone convergence theorem that $\int_{E_0} U^0 \nu(x) \kappa(dx) < \infty$. The proof of the lemma is now complete. \Box

For $\alpha > 0$, define the α -order Feller measure U_{α} on $F \times F$ by

$$U_{\alpha}(f \otimes g) := \alpha(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}f, \mathbf{H}g)_{E_0} \quad \text{for } f, g \in b\mathcal{B}_+(F).$$
(2.4.11)

By (2.4.5), it is easy to see that U_{α} is symmetric in $f, g \in b\mathcal{B}_{+}(F)$. It follows from $\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}g = \mathbf{H}g - \alpha R^{0}_{\alpha}\mathbf{H}g, \ g \in b\mathcal{B}_{+}(F)$, and (2.3.6) that

$$\uparrow \lim_{\alpha \uparrow \infty} U_{\alpha}(f \otimes g) = U(f \otimes g) \quad \text{for } f, g \in b\mathcal{B}_{+}(F).$$
(2.4.12)

Both U_{α} and U are bimeasures on $F \times F$, which can be extended to measures on $\mathcal{B}(F \times F)$ in the following way. Choose a sequence $\{D_n\}$ of Borel subsets of E_0 increasing to E_0 with $m_0(D_n) < \infty$ for every $n \ge 1$. For functions u, v on D_n , denote by $(u, v)_n$ the integral $\int_{D_n} u(x)v(x)m_0(dx)$. Then $U_n^{\alpha}(f,g) := \alpha(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}f, \mathbf{H}g)_n$, $f,g \in b\mathcal{B}_+(F)$, is a finite symmetric bimeasure on $F \times F$ which can be extended uniquely to a finite symmetric measure U_n^{α} on $\mathcal{B}(F \times F)$. The extended measures are increasing in n on $\mathcal{B}(F \times F)$. Then the measure defined by

$$U_{\alpha}(B) = \uparrow \lim_{n \to \infty} U_n^{\alpha}(B), \quad B \in \mathfrak{B}(F \times F),$$

extends the bimeasure U_{α} . The constructed measure U_{α} is easily seen to be increasing in α on $\mathcal{B}(F \times F)$ so that $U(B) = \uparrow \lim_{\alpha \uparrow \infty} U_{\alpha}(B), B \in \mathcal{B}(F \times F)$, gives a measure on $\mathcal{B}(F \times F)$ extending the symmetric bimeasure U.

The Feller measure U satisfies a property that

if a A Borel set
$$N \subset F$$
 is \mathcal{E} -polar, then $U(N \times F) = 0$, (2.4.13)

because if N is \mathcal{E} -polar, then it is *m*-polar with respect to X by [2, Theorem 3.1.3] and $\mathbf{H}\mathbb{1}_N(x) = \mathbb{P}_x(\sigma_N < \infty) = 0$ for *m*-a.e. $x \in E_0$.

Lemma 2.4.3 For $\alpha > 0$ and for $u \in b\mathcal{B}^*(F)$, let $w = \mathbf{H}(u^2) - (\mathbf{H}u)^2$. Then

$$\alpha(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}1, w)_{E_0} + \alpha \int_{E_0 \times F} (\mathbf{H}u(x) - u(\xi))^2 \mathbf{H}^{\alpha}(x, d\xi) m(dx)$$
$$= \int_{F \times F} (u(\xi) - u(\eta))^2 U_{\alpha}(d\xi, d\eta) + \alpha(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}(u^2), q)_{E_0}.$$

Proof. For $\{D_n\}$ as above,

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}1, \,\mathbf{H}u^{2} - (\mathbf{H}u)^{2})_{n} + \alpha \int_{D_{n} \times F} (\mathbf{H}u(x) - u(\xi))^{2} \mathbf{H}^{\alpha}(x, d\xi) m(dx) \\ &= U_{n}^{\alpha}(1, \, u^{2}) - 2U_{n}^{\alpha}(u, \, u) + \alpha(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}u^{2}, \, 1)_{n} \\ &= \int_{F \times F} (u(\xi) - u(\eta))^{2} U_{n}^{\alpha}(d\xi, d\eta) + \alpha(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}u^{2}, \, q)_{n}. \end{aligned}$$

It then suffices to let $n \to \infty$.

The proof of the next localization formula will be given in Section 2.6.

Theorem 2.4.4 For $v = \mathbf{H}u$ with $u \in b\mathcal{F}_e$,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(v(X_t) - v(X_0))^2; t < \tau_0 \right]$$

= $\mu_{\langle v \rangle}^c (E_0) + \int_{E_0 \times E_0} (v(x) - v(y))^2 J(dx, dy).$ (2.4.14)

Lemma 2.4.5 For $v = \mathbf{H}u$ with $u \in \mathcal{F}_e$, we have

$$v(X_t) - v(X_0) = M_t^{[v]}$$
 for $t \in [0, \tau_0]$.

Proof. Denote by F^r the set of all regular points of F. Since $F \setminus F^r$ is \mathcal{E} -polar by [2, Theorem 3.1.10], we can choose a properly exceptional set $N \supset F \setminus F^r$. It then holds \mathbb{P}_x -a.s. for $x \in E \setminus N$ that $X_{\tau_0} \in F^r \cup \{\partial\}$ and $\tau_0 \circ \theta_{\tau_0}(\omega) = 0$. This means that $v(X_{t \wedge \tau_0}) - v(X_0) = \mathbb{E}_x \left[u(X_{\tau_0}) \middle| \mathcal{F}_{t \wedge \tau_0} \right] - v(X_0) \quad \mathbb{P}_x$ -a.s. $x \in E \setminus N$; namely, $v(X_{t \wedge \tau_0}) - v(X_0)$ is a martingale relative to $\{\mathcal{F}_{t \wedge \tau_0}\}$ under \mathbb{P}_x for each $x \in E \setminus N$.

Thus if we let $C_t = v(X_{t \wedge \tau_0}) - v(X_0) - M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]}$, then $C_t = N_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]}$, $t \ge 0$, and $\{C_t\}_{\{t\ge 0\}}$ is a continuous \mathbb{P}_x -martingale relative to the filtration $\{\mathcal{F}_{t \wedge \tau_0}\}$ for q.e. $x \in E$. Since $N^{[v]}$ has zero energy, we have for each fixed t > 0,

$$\mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{1}_{E_0} \cdot m} \left[\langle C \rangle_t; \, t < \tau_0 \right] = \mathbb{E}_{\mathbb{1}_{E_0} \cdot m} \left[\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n \left(N_{kt/n}^{[v]} - N_{(k-1)t/n}^{[v]} \right)^2; \, t < \tau_0 \right] \\
\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}_m \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \left(N_{kt/n}^{[v]} - N_{(k-1)t/n}^{[v]} \right)^2 \right] = 0.$$

Hence, for every t > 0, $\langle C \rangle_t = 0 \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{1}_{E_0} \cdot m}$ -a.e. on $\{t < \tau_0\}$. By the continuity of $\langle C \rangle$, we have $\langle C \rangle_{\tau_0} = 0 \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{1}_{E_0} \cdot m}$ -a.e. Thus $\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{1}_{E_0} \cdot m}$ -a.e., $C_t = 0$, namely, $v(X_{t \wedge \tau_0}) - v(X_0) = M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]}$ for every $t \ge 0$.

The next theorem relates Feller measures to the jumping measure J and the killing measure κ of $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$.

Theorem 2.4.6 Assume that $m(E_0) < \infty$. For any $u \in \mathcal{F}_e$,

$$\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}(E_0) + \int_{E_0 \times F} (\mathbf{H}u(x) - u(\xi))^2 J(dx, d\xi) + \int_{E_0} (\mathbf{H}u)^2(x)\kappa(dx)$$

=
$$\int_{F \times F} (u(\xi) - u(\eta))^2 U(d\xi, d\eta) + 2 \int_F u(\xi)^2 V(d\xi).$$

Proof. Without loss of generality, we may assume that $u \in b\mathcal{F}_e$ since otherwise we consider $u_n = ((-n) \lor u) \land n$ and then pass $n \to \infty$. For $\alpha > 0$, by Lemma 2.4.3,

$$\int_{F \times F} (u(\xi) - u(\eta))^2 U_{\alpha}(d\xi, d\eta) + \alpha (\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}(u^2), q)_{E_0}$$

= $\alpha (\mathbf{H}^{\alpha} 1, w)_{E_0} + \alpha \int_{E_0 \times F} (\mathbf{H} u(x) - u(\xi))^2 \mathbf{H}^{\alpha}(x, d\xi) m(dx),$
(2.4.15)

where $w = \mathbf{H}(u^2) - (\mathbf{H}u)^2$ and $q = 1 - \mathbf{H}1$.

It follows from (2.4.12) that

$$\lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \int_{F \times F} (u(\xi) - u(\eta))^2 U_{\alpha}(d\xi, d\eta) = \int_{F \times F} (u(\xi) - u(\eta))^2 U(d\xi, d\eta).$$
(2.4.16)

By definition (2.4.7) and (2.3.6), we have

$$\lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \alpha(\mathbf{H}^{\alpha}(u^2), q)_{E_0} = \int_F u(\xi)^2 V(d\xi).$$
(2.4.17)

The limit in α of the first term of the right hand side of (2.4.15) has the expression as is exhibited in (2.4.8) under the assumption $m(E_0) < \infty$. Moreover, the last term in (2.4.15) can be rewritten as

$$I_{\alpha} := \alpha \mathbb{E}_m \left[e^{-\alpha \tau_0} (\mathbf{H}u(X_0) - u(X_{\tau_0}))^2 \mathbb{1}_{\{\tau_0 < \zeta\}} \right].$$

Hence it only remains to prove that

$$\lim_{\alpha \to \infty} I_{\alpha} = \int_{E_0 \times F} (\mathbf{H}u(x) - u(\xi))^2 J(dx, d\xi).$$
(2.4.18)

Let $v := \mathbf{H}u$, which is a bounded function in \mathcal{F}_e . Note that $u(X_{\tau_0}) = \mathbf{H}u(X_{\tau_0}) \mathbb{P}_{m_0}$ -a.s. By a change of variable $r = \alpha s$,

$$\lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \alpha \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[e^{-\alpha \tau_0} (u(X_{\tau_0}) - \mathbf{H}u(X_0))^2; \ \tau_0 < \zeta \right] \\
= \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \alpha \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\int_0^\infty \alpha e^{-\alpha s} (v(X_{\tau_0}) - v(X_0))^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{s \ge \tau_0; \tau_0 < \zeta\}} ds \right] \\
= \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \alpha \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\int_0^\infty e^{-r} (v(X_{\tau_0}) - v(X_0))^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{r/\alpha \ge \tau_0; \tau_0 < \zeta\}} dr \right] \\
= \lim_{\alpha \to \infty} \int_0^\infty r e^{-r} (\alpha/r) \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(v(X_{\tau_0}) - v(X_0))^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{r/\alpha \ge \tau_0; \tau_0 < \zeta\}} \right] dr.$$
(2.4.19)

By Lemma 2.4.5, $v(X_{t\wedge\tau_0}) - v(X_0) = M_{t\wedge\tau_0}^{[v]}$. Then by Lemma 2.4.2 and Theorem 2.4.4, we have

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{t\to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(v(X_{\tau_0}) - v(X_0))^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{t \ge \tau_0; \tau_0 < \zeta\}} \right] \\ &= \lim_{t\to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left(\mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(v(X_{t\wedge \tau_0}) - v(X_0))^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{t \ge \tau_0\}} \right] - \mathbb{P}_{v^2 \cdot m_0} \left(t \ge \tau_0; \tau_0 = \zeta \right) \right) \\ &= \lim_{t\to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left(\mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(M_{t\wedge \tau_0}^{[v]})^2 \right] - \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(v(X_t) - v(X_0))^2 \mathbf{1}_{\{t < \tau_0\}} \right] \right) \\ &- \int_{E_0} v(x)^2 \kappa(dx) \\ &= \mu_{\langle v \rangle} (E_0) - \left(\mu_{\langle v \rangle}^c(E_0) + \int_{E_0 \times E_0} (v(x) - v(y))^2 J(dx, dy) \right) - \int_{E_0} v(x)^2 \kappa(dx) \\ &= \int_{E_0 \times F} (v(x) - v(y))^2 J(dx, dy). \end{split}$$

This together with (2.4.19) and the dominated convergence theorem establish the claim (2.4.18) and hence the theorem.

Theorem 2.4.7 For any $u \in \mathcal{F}_e$,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{E}}(u|_{F}, u|_{F}) = \mathcal{E}(\mathbf{H}u, \mathbf{H}u)
= \frac{1}{2}\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{c}(F) + \frac{1}{2}\int_{F\times F}(u(x) - u(y))^{2}\left(U(dx, dy) + J(dx, dy)\right)
+ \int_{F}u(x)^{2}\left(V(dx) + \kappa(dx)\right).$$
(2.4.20)

Proof. When $m(E_0) < \infty$, the conclusion of the theorem follows from (2.1.4) and Theorem 2.4.6. The general case can be dealt with by a time change argument; see the proof of [2, Theorem 5.5.9].

2.5 Beurling-Deny Decomposition

We now show that the decomposition (2.4.20) is the Beurling-Deny decomposition for the extended trace Dirichlet form $(\check{\mathcal{E}}, \check{\mathcal{F}}_e)$. For this, we take a positive Radon measure μ on E charging no \mathcal{E} -polar set whose quasi support is F; for example, the measure μ given in (2.2.5). Let F^* be the topological support of μ . Clearly, F^* is a closed set, $F \subset \mathcal{F}^* \mathcal{E}$ -q.e., $\mu(F^*\Delta F) = 0$ and so $L^2(F;\mu) = L^2(F^*;\mu)$. Denote by $(\mathcal{E}^*,\mathcal{F}^*)$ the form $(\check{\mathcal{E}},\check{\mathcal{F}}_e \cap L^2(F;\mu))$ being considered as a Dirichlet form on $L^2(F^*;\mu)$ rather than on $L^2(F;\mu)$. It is easy to see that $(\mathcal{E}^*,\mathcal{F}^*)$ is a regular Dirichlet form on $L^2(F^*;\mu)$ possessing $C_c(F^*) \cap \check{\mathcal{F}}$ as its core and that the set $F^* \setminus F$ is \mathcal{E}^* -polar (see [2, Theorem 5.2.13(i)]). Moreover, by a suitable choice of a properly exceptional set N of A^{μ} and by redefining F to be the support of A^{μ} , it holds that $F \subset F^*$ and the time-changed process Y living on F becomes just a Hunt process properly associated with the regular Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$. Clearly, the inclusion map $i: F \mapsto F^*$ is a quasi-homeomorphism between the quasi-regular Dirichlet form $(\check{\mathcal{E}}, \check{\mathcal{F}})$ on $L^2(F;\mu)$ and the regular Dirichlet form on $L^2(F^*;\mu)$.

Theorem 2.5.1 The bilinear form $(u, v) \mapsto \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u, \mathbf{H}v \rangle}^c(F)$ has the strongly local property on \mathcal{F}^* ; that is, if $u, v \in \check{\mathcal{F}} \cap C_c(F^*)$ and u is constant in a neighborhood of supp[v], then $\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u, \mathbf{H}v \rangle}^c(F) = 0$. In other words,

$$\mathcal{E}^{*c}(u,v) = \frac{1}{2}\mu^c_{\langle \mathbf{H}u,\mathbf{H}v\rangle}(F) \quad \text{for } u,v \in \mathcal{F}_e^*.$$

Hence (2.4.20) is the Beurling-Deny decomposition of $(\check{\mathcal{E}}, \check{\mathcal{F}})$.

Proof. Let $u \in b\check{\mathcal{F}} \cap C_c(F^*)$ such that u = c for some $c \in \mathbb{R}$ on a relative open subset Iof F^* . $I = D \cap F^*$ for some open set $D \subset E$. Take a relatively compact open set D_1 with $\overline{D}_1 \subset D$ and let $I_1 = D_1 \cap F^*$. Since $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ is a regular Dirichlet space on $L^2(E; m)$, there is a $\varphi \in \mathcal{F} \cap C_c(E)$ such that $\varphi = 1$ on D_1 and $\varphi = 0$ on D^c . Let $v = c \varphi + (1 - \varphi)\mathbf{H}u$. Then $v \in b\mathcal{F}_e$ and v is constant on D_1 . Hence $\mu_{\langle v \rangle}^c(D_1) = 0$ by [2, Proposition 4.3.1] and thus we conclude

$$\mu_{\langle v \rangle}^c(I_1) = 0. \tag{2.5.1}$$

Since v = u q.e. on F, we have $\mathbf{H}v = \mathbf{H}u$ q.e. Define $v_0 = v - \mathbf{H}v$, which is in $b\mathcal{F}_e^0$. Since F is quasi closed, there exists an \mathcal{E} -nest $\{K_n, n \ge 1\}$ so that $F \cap K_n$ is a closed set. Let $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}^{E \setminus (F \cap K_n)})$ be the Dirichlet space for the part process of X killed upon leaving $E \setminus (F \cap K_n)$. Clearly $v_0 \in b\mathcal{F}_e^0 \subset b\mathcal{F}_e^{E \setminus (F \cap K_n)}$. Since $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}^{E \setminus (F \cap K_n)})$ is regular on $L^2(E \setminus (F \cap K_n); m)$ by [2, Theorem 3.3.9] and $\mu_{\langle \psi_0 \rangle}^c(F \cap K_n) = 0$ for any $\psi \in \mathcal{F} \cap C_c(E \setminus (F \cap K_n))$ by [2, Proposition 4.3.1], we have $\mu_{\langle v_0 \rangle}^c(F \cap K_n) = 0$, and passing n to infinity we get $\mu_{\langle v_0 \rangle}^c(F) = 0$.

On the other hand,

$$\mu_{\langle v \rangle}^{c}(I_{1} \cap F) = \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}v + v_{0} \rangle}^{c}(I_{1} \cap F)$$

$$= \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}v \rangle}^{c}(I_{1} \cap F) + 2\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}v, v_{0} \rangle}^{c}(I_{1} \cap F) + \mu_{\langle v_{0} \rangle}^{c}(I_{1} \cap F)$$

$$= \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}v \rangle}^{c}(I_{1} \cap F) = \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u \rangle}^{c}(I_{1} \cap F).$$

Thus by (2.5.1), $\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^c(I_1 \cap F) = 0$. By letting $D_1 \uparrow D$, we get

$$\mu^c_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}(I \cap F) = 0. \tag{2.5.2}$$

Now for $u, v \in \check{\mathcal{F}} \cap C_c(F^*)$ such that u is constant in a neighborhood of supp[v], we let $F_1 = \text{supp}[v]$ and $F_2 = F^* \setminus F_1$. By (2.5.2),

$$\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^c(F_1 \cap F) = 0$$
 and $\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}v\rangle}^c(F_2 \cap F) = 0.$

Since $F \subset F^*$ q.e. and $\mu^c_{\langle \mathbf{H}u, \mathbf{H}v \rangle}$ does not charge on \mathcal{E} -polar sets, it follows then that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u,\mathbf{H}v\rangle}^{c}(F) \right| &= \left| \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u,\mathbf{H}v\rangle}^{c}(F_{1}\cap F) + \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u,\mathbf{H}v\rangle}^{c}(F_{2}\cap F) \right| \\ &\leq \sqrt{\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{c}(F_{1}\cap F) \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}v\rangle}^{c}(F_{1}\cap F)} \\ &+ \sqrt{\mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}u\rangle}^{c}(F_{2}\cap F) \mu_{\langle \mathbf{H}v\rangle}^{c}(F_{2}\cap F)} \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

This proves the theorem.

As is described above, the time-changed process Y of X with respect to a PCAF A^{μ} (under a suitable choice of an exceptional set of A^{μ}) becomes a μ -symmetric Hunt process on $F(\subset F^*)$ which is properly associated with the regular Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}^*, \mathcal{F}^*)$.

Let (N, H) be a Lévy system of the Hunt process Y. Then the jumping measure J and the killing measure $\check{\kappa}$ of Y are defined by

$$\check{J}(dx, dy) = \check{N}(x, dy)\check{\mu}_{\check{H}}(dx), \quad \check{\kappa}(dx) = \check{N}(x, \{\partial\})\check{\mu}_{\check{H}}(dx),$$

where $\check{\mu}_{\check{H}}$ denotes the Revuz measure on F^* of the PCAF \check{H} of Y relative to μ . Thus we conclude from Theorems 2.4.7 and 2.5.1 the following identification of the jumping and killing measures of the time-changed process Y.

Theorem 2.5.2 It holds that

$$\begin{cases} \check{J}(dx, dy) = U(dx, dy) + J(dx, dy) \big|_{F \times F} \\ \check{\kappa}(dx) = V(dx) + \kappa(dx) \big|_{F}. \end{cases}$$
(2.5.3)

The jumping measure \check{J} of Y is carried on $F \times F$ and F is a subset of F^* as is stated above. On account of the Beurling-Deny decomposition of the regular Dirichlet form \mathcal{E}^* , it holds that if $\varphi, \psi \in \check{\mathcal{F}}_+ \cap C_c(F^*)$ are of disjoint support, then

$$\int_{F^* \times F^*} \varphi(\xi) \psi(\eta) \check{J}(d\xi, d\eta) = -\check{\mathcal{E}}(\varphi, \psi) < \infty$$

which means that \check{J} is a σ -finite measure on $F \times F \setminus d$. By combining this with (2.5.3) and (2.4.13), we can draw the following properties of the Feller measure U:

(U.1) $U|_{F \times F \setminus d}$ is σ -finite.

(U.2) For $B \in \mathcal{B}(F \times F \setminus d)$, U(B) = 0 whenever its projection on the factor F is \mathcal{E} -polar.

2.6 A Localization Formula

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 2.4.4

Lemma 2.6.1 Suppose $v \in b\mathcal{F}_e$. Then

$$\limsup_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(v(X_t) - v(X_0))^2; t < \tau_0 \right]$$

$$\leq \quad \mu_{\langle v \rangle}^c(E_0) + \int_{E_0 \times E_0} (v(x) - v(y))^2 J(dx, dy).$$

Proof. First note that

$$\mathbb{E}_x\left[(M_{t\wedge\tau_0}^{[v]})^2\right] = \mathbb{E}_x\left[\langle M^{[v]}\rangle_{t\wedge\tau_0}\right].$$

By [2, Proposition 4.1.10], $t \to \langle M^{[v]} \rangle_{t \wedge \tau_0}$ is a PCAF of X^0 with Revuz measure $\mu_{\langle u \rangle}|_{E_0}$. Thus

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\langle M^{[v]} \rangle_{t \wedge \tau_0} \right] = \mu_{\langle v \rangle}(E_0)$$

= $\mu^c_{\langle v \rangle}(E_0) + \int_{E_0 \times E_\partial} (v(x) - v(y))^2 N(x, dy) \mu_H(dx).$ (2.6.1)

Define, for $t \ge 0$, $A_t := (v(X_{\tau_0}) - v(X_{\tau_0-}))\mathbb{1}_{\{t \ge \tau_0 > 0\}}$, and let A^p be its dual predictable projection. Since A is a process of bounded variation, A^p can be expressed as

$$A_t^p = \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_0} \int_{F_{\partial}} (v(y) - v(X_s)) N(X_s, dy) dH_s.$$
(2.6.2)

Moreover, $M := A - A^p$ is a purely discontinuous square integrable martingale that is orthogonal to $M^{[v]}_{\cdot \wedge \tau_0} - M$ in the sense that $[M, M^{[v]}_{\cdot \wedge \tau_0} - M] = 0$. We claim that

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(A_t^p)^2 \right] = 0.$$
(2.6.3)

To prove it, for $k \ge 1$, define

$$A_t^k := (v(X_{\tau_0}) - v(X_{\tau_0})) \mathbb{1}_{\{|v(X_{\tau_0}) - v(X_{\tau_0})| > 1/k\}} \mathbb{1}_{\{t \ge \tau_0 > 0\}}$$

and

$$A_t^{k,p} := \int_0^{t\wedge\tau_0} \int_{F_{\partial}} (v(y) - v(X_s)) \mathbb{1}_{\{|v(y) - v(X_s)| > 1/k\}} N(X_s, dy) dH_s.$$

Then $M^k := A^k - A^{k,p}$ is a purely discontinuous square integrable martingale and $[M - M^k]_t = (A_t - A_t^k)^2$. Therefore, by the Lévy system formula mentioned above,

$$\limsup_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(A_t^p - A_t^{k,p})^2 \right] \\
\leq \limsup_{t \to 0} \frac{2}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(M_t - M_t^k)^2 \right] + \limsup_{t \to 0} \frac{2}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(A_t - A_t^k)^2 \right] \\
\leq 4 \int_{E_0 \times F_\partial} (v(x) - v(y))^2 \mathbb{1}_{\{|v(x) - v(y)| \le 1/k\}} J(dx, dy), \quad (2.6.4)$$

which tends to 0 as $k \to \infty$. Now define

$$B_t^k := |v(X_{\tau_0}) - v(X_{\tau_0-})| \mathbb{1}_{\{|v(X_{\tau_0}) - v(X_{\tau_0-})| > 1/k\}} \mathbb{1}_{\{t \ge \tau_0 > 0\}}$$

and

$$B_t^{k,p} := \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_0} \int_{F_{\partial}} |v(y) - v(X_s)| \mathbb{1}_{\{|v(y) - v(X_s)| > 1/k\}} N(X_s, dy) dH_s.$$

Then

$$\mathbb{E}_x[B_t^{k,p}] = \mathbb{E}_x[B_t^k] \le 2 \|v\|_{\infty} \mathbb{P}_x(t \ge \tau_0) \quad \text{for } x \in E_0 \tag{2.6.5}$$

and $B^{k,p}$ is a PCAF of X^0 having Revuz measure μ_k with

$$\mu_{k}(E_{0}) = \int_{E_{0} \times F_{\partial}} |v(x) - v(y)| \mathbb{1}_{\{|v(x) - v(y)| > 1/k\}} N(x, dy) \mu_{H}(dx)$$

$$\leq k \int_{E_{0} \times F_{\partial}} (v(x) - v(y))^{2} N(x, dy) \mu_{H}(dx) < \infty.$$

By the Markov property of X^0 , (2.6.5), and Revuz correspondence,

$$\mathbb{E}_{m_0}\left[(A_t^{k,p})^2 \right] \leq \mathbb{E}_{m_0}\left[(B_t^{k,p})^2 \right] = 2\mathbb{E}_{m_0}\left[\int_0^t \left(\int_s^t dB_r^{k,p} \right) dB_s^{k,p} \right]$$

$$= 2\mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\int_0^t \mathbb{E}_{X_s^0} \left[B_{t-s}^{k,p} \right] dB_s^{k,p} \right] \\ \leq 4 \|v\|_{\infty} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\int_0^t (1 - P_{t-s}^0 1(X_s^0)) dB_s^{k,p} \right] \\ \leq 4 \|v\|_{\infty} \int_0^t \left(\langle P_s^0 1, \mu_k \rangle - \langle P_s^0 1, P_t^0 1 \cdot \mu_k \rangle \right) ds.$$

It then follows from the dominated convergence theorem that

$$\limsup_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(A_t^{k,p})^2 \right] \le 4 \|v\|_{\infty} (\mu_k(E_0) - \mu_k(E_0)) = 0.$$

This together with (2.6.4) establishes the claim (2.6.3).

Next by Fukushima's decomposition, (2.6.3), the stated martingale orthogonality between M and $M^{[v]}_{\cdot\wedge\tau_0}-M$, the identity $[M]_t = A_t^2$, and finally by (2.6.1) and the Lévy system formula, we have

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{t \to 0} \sup_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(v(X_t) - v(X_0))^2; t < \tau_0 \right] \\ &= \lim_{t \to 0} \sup_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]})^2; t < \tau_0 \right] \\ &= \lim_{t \to 0} \sup_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]} - M_t - A_t^p)^2; t < \tau_0 \right] \\ &\leq \lim_{t \to 0} \sup_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]} - M_t)^2 \right] \\ &= \lim_{t \to 0} \sup_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} [(M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]})^2] - \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} [A_t^2] \\ &= \mu_{\langle v \rangle}^c (E_0) + \int_{E_0 \times E_0} (v(x) - v(y))^2 N(x, dy) \mu_H(dx). \end{split}$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.

Proof of Theorem 2.4.4. It suffices to prove the theorem for $v = R_{\alpha}g$ for some bounded $g \in L^2(E; m)$, as such functions v are \mathcal{E} -dense in \mathcal{F}_e and the upper bound in Lemma 2.6.1 can be utilized.

For $f \in \mathcal{F}^0 \subset \mathcal{F}$, let Fukushima's decomposition of $f(X_t^0) - f(X_0^0)$ be denoted as $M_t^{0,[f]} + N_t^{0,[f]}$, while Fukushima's decomposition for $f(X_t) - f(X_0)$ by $M_t^{[f]} + N_t^{[f]}$. Since $f(X_{t\wedge\tau_0}) - f(X_0) = f(X_t^0) - f(X_0^0)$, we have

$$M_{t\wedge\tau_0}^{[f]} - M_t^{0,[f]} = N_t^{0,[f]} - N_{t\wedge\tau_0}^{[f]}, \qquad t \ge 0.$$

It is easy to check (see [2, Exercise 4.1.9]) that $M_t^{0,[f]}$ is a square-integrable martingale with respect to the filtration $\{\mathcal{F}_{t\wedge\tau_0}, t\geq 0\}$ and so is $M_{t\wedge\tau_0}^{[f]} - M_t^{0,[f]}$. Since $N^{[f]}$ (resp. $N^{0,[f]}$) is a

CAF of X (resp. X^0) of zero energy, we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\langle M_{\cdot\wedge\tau_0}^{[f]} - M^{0,[f]} \rangle_t; t < \tau_0 \right] = \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\langle N_{\cdot\wedge\tau_0}^{[f]} - N^{0,[f]} \rangle_t; t < \tau_0 \right] \\ = \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=1}^n \left(N_{kt/n}^{[f]} - N_{(k-1)t/n}^{[f]} - N_{kt/n}^{0,[f]} + N_{(k-1)t/n}^{0,[f]} \right)^2; t < \tau_0 \right] \\ \le \lim_{n \to \infty} 2\mathbb{E}_m \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \left(N_{kt/n}^{[f]} - N_{(k-1)t/n}^{[f]} \right)^2 \right] + \lim_{n \to \infty} 2\mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\sum_{k=1}^n \left(N_{kt/n}^{0,[f]} - N_{(k-1)t/n}^{0,[f]} \right)^2 \right] = 0.$$

By the continuity of $\langle M_{\cdot\wedge\tau_0}^{[f]} - M^{0,[f]} \rangle_t$, we conclude that $\langle M_{\cdot\wedge\tau_0}^{[f]} - M^{0,[f]} \rangle_{\tau_0} = 0$ and therefore $M_{t\wedge\tau_0}^{[f]} = M_t^{0,[f]}$. Consequently, $N_{t\wedge\tau_0}^{[f]} = N_t^{0,[f]}$. Now let $f = \alpha R_{\alpha}^0 \mathbb{1}_{E_0 \cap K} \in \mathcal{F}^0$ for a fixed compact set $K \subset E$. Note that $0 \leq f \leq 1$. By Fukushima's decomposition and the fact that $t \mapsto \langle M^{[v]} \rangle_{t\wedge\tau_0}$ is a PCAF of X^0 with Revuz

measure $\mu_{\langle v \rangle}|_{E_0}$,

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(v(X_t) - v(X_0))^2; t < \tau_0 \right]
= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^v)^2; t < \tau_0 \right]
\geq \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]})^2 f(X_t^0) \right]
= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{f \cdot m_0} \left[(M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]})^2 \right] + \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]})^2 (f(X_t^0) - f(X_0^0)) \right]
= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{f \cdot m_0} \left[\langle M^{[v]} \rangle_{t \wedge \tau_0} \right] + \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]})^2 (f(X_{t \wedge \tau_0}) - f(X_0)) \right]
= \int_{E_0} f(x) \mu_{\langle v \rangle}(dx) + \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[v]})^2 M_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[f]} \right]
=: \int_{E_0} f(x) \mu_{\langle v \rangle}(dx) + I.$$
(2.6.6)

In the second to the last equality, we used the fact that

$$N_{t \wedge \tau_0}^{[f]} = N_t^{0,[f]} = \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_0} \alpha(f - \mathbb{1}_{E_0 \cap K})(X_s) ds$$

whose absolute value is bounded by αt . By Itô's formula,

$$I = \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\int_0^{t \wedge \tau_0} M_{s-}^v d\langle M^{[v],c} M^{[f],c} \rangle_s + \sum_{s \le t \wedge \tau_0} ((M_s^{[v]})^2 - (M_{s-}^{[v]})^2) (M_s^{[f]} - M_{s-}^{[f]}) \right]$$

$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\int_0^{t \wedge \tau_0} M_{s-}^v d\langle M^{[v],c} M^{[f],c} \rangle_s + \sum_{s \le t \wedge \tau_0} 2M_{s-}^{[v]} (M_s^{[v]} - M_{s-}^{[v]}) (M_s^{[f]} - M_{s-}^{[f]}) \right]$$

$$+ \sum_{s \le t \wedge \tau_0} (M_s^{[v]} - M_{s-}^{[v]})^2 (M_s^{[f]} - M_{s-}^{[f]}) \right]$$

2.6. A LOCALIZATION FORMULA

Since $v = R_{\alpha}g$ for some bounded $g \in L^2(E;m)$,

$$M_t^{[v]} = v(X_t) - v(X_0) - \int_0^t (\alpha u - g)(X_s) ds.$$

Observe that $\|\alpha u - g\|_{\infty} \leq 2\|g\|_{\infty}$ and so $|\int_0^t (\alpha u - g)(X_s)ds| \leq 2\|g\|_{\infty} t$. We then have by the Revuz formula in Proposition 4.1.10 of [2], the Lévy system formula,

$$\begin{split} I &= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \Big[\int_0^{t \wedge \tau_0} (v(X_s) - v(X_0)) d\langle M^{[v],c} M^{[f],c} \rangle_s \\ &+ \sum_{s \leq t \wedge \tau_0} 2(v(X_{s-}) - v(X_0))(v(X_s) - v(X_{s-}))(f(X_s) - f(X_{s-})) \\ &+ \sum_{s \leq t \wedge \tau_0} (v(X_s) - v(X_{s-}))^2 (f(X_s) - f(X_{s-})) \Big] \\ &= 0 + \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[2 \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_0} v(X_s) \int_{E_{\partial}} (v(X_s) - v(y))(f(X_s) - f(y))N(X_s, dy) dH_s \right] \\ &- \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{v \cdot m_0} \left[2 \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_0} \int_{E_{\partial}} (v(X_s) - v(y))(f(X_s) - f(y))N(X_s, dy) dH_s \right] \\ &+ \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[\int_0^{t \wedge \tau_0} \int_{E_{\partial}} (v(y) - v(X_s))^2 (f(y) - f(X_s))N(X_s, dy) dH_s \right] \\ &= \int_{E_0 \times E_{\partial}} (v(y) - v(x))^2 (f(y) - f(x))N(x, dy) d\mu_H(dx) \\ &= - \int_{E_0 \times F_{\partial}} f(x)(v(x) - v(y))^2 N(x, dy) d\mu_H(dx). \end{split}$$

In the last equality above, we used the symmetry of J and the fact that f = 0 q.e. on F. Thus we have by (2.6.6),

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(v(X_t) - v(X_0))^2; t < \tau_0 \right] \\
\geq \int_{E_0} f(x) \mu_{\langle v \rangle}(dx) - \int_{E_0 \times F_\partial} f(x) (v(x) - v(y))^2 N(x, dy) d\mu_H(dx) \\
= \int_{E_0} f(x) \mu_{\langle v \rangle}^c(dx) + \int_{E_0 \times E_0} f(x) (v(x) - v(y))^2 N(x, dy) d\mu_H(dx).$$

Since this is true for all $f = \alpha R^0_{\alpha} \mathbb{1}_{E_0 \cap K}$ where $\alpha > 0$ and K is a compact subset of E, we conclude by first letting $K \uparrow E$ and then $\alpha \uparrow \infty$ that

$$\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \mathbb{E}_{m_0} \left[(v(X_t) - v(X_0))^2; t < \tau_0 \right] \ge \mu_{\langle v \rangle}^c(E_0) + \int_{E_0 \times E_0} (v(x) - v(y))^2 N(x, dy) d\mu_H(dx).$$

This together with Lemma 2.6.1 completes the proof of the theorem.

Chapter 3

Notes

Chapter 1 is a self-contained introduction to Brownian motion with darning (BMD) and its basic properties. BMD is a particular case of symmetric Markov processes with darning presented in Chapter 7 of Chen and Fukushima [2]. Some material presented in sections §1.1, §1.2, §1.4 and §1.5 can be derived from the more general results in [2, Chapter 7]. But the presentation here (including some of the proofs) is new and more direct. We took the view point that BMD is obtained from Brownian motion by "shorting" on each compact set K_j , in spirit with "shorting" in electric network or excursion-reflected random walk described in the first paragraph of [14, Section 5.1]. Theorem 1.2.1 is taken from [2, Theorem 4.3.8], which is an extension of Theorems I.5.2.3 and I.7.1.1 in Bouleau-Hirsh [1]. Some of the results presented in sections §1.1, §1.2, §1.4 and §1.5 are new; for example, Theorem 1.2.2 holds for any compact sets K_j without additional regular points assumption on K_j . Most examples in §1.1 appeared here for the first time. Theorems 1.3.2 and 1.3.3 are new. Section §1.6 is new and holds for any dimension. Some of its two-dimensional version has been given in [7]. Sections §1.7 and §1.9 are based on [7], while some of its presentation here is new. Section §1.8 is new.

As mentioned in the text, most of the results covered in Sections §1.1-1.6 can be extended easily to diffusions with darns and even to Markov processes with darns. We plan to spell these out in a future expansion of this Lecture Notes.

The first five sections of Chapter 2 are based on Chapter 5 of Chen and Fukushima [2], but the presentation here has been reorganized. Section 2.6 is based on [3].

Bibliography

- [1] N. Bouleau and F. Hirsch, Dirichlet Forms and Analysis on Wiener Space. De Gruyter, 1991.
- [2] Z.-Q. Chen and M. Fukushima, Symmetric Markov Processes, Time Change, and Boundary Theory. Princeton Univ. Press, 2012.
- [3] Z.-Q. Chen and M. Fukushima, A localization formula in Dirichlet form theory. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 140 (2012), 1815-1822.
- [4] Z.-Q. Chen and M. Fukushima, One-point extensions of Markov processes by darning. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields 141 (2008), 61-112.
- [5] Z.-Q. Chen and M. Fukushima, On Feller's boundary problem for Markov processes in weak duality. J. Funct. Anal. 252 (2007), 710-733.
- [6] Z.-Q. Chen and M. Fukushima, Flux and lateral conditions for symmetric Markov processes. *Potential Analysis* 29 (2008), 241-269.
- [7] Z.-Q. Chen, M. Fukushima and S. Rohde, On chordal Komatu-Löwner equation and Brownian motion with darning for multiply connected domains. In preparation.
- [8] Z.-Q. Chen, M. Fukushima and J. Ying, Traces of symmetric Markov processes and their characterizations. Ann. Probab. 34 (2006), 1052-1102.
- [9] Z.-Q. Chen, M. Fukushima and J. Ying, Extending Markov processes in weak duality by Poisson point processes of excursions. Proceedings of the Abel Symposium 2005, *Stochastic Analysis and Applications–A Symposium in Honor of Kiyosi Itô*. (Eds) F.E. Benth, G. Di Nunno, T. Lindstrom, B. Oksendal and T. Zhang, Springer, 2007, pp153-196.
- [10] P. J. Fitzsimmons, Time changes of symmetric Markov processes and a Feynman-Kac formula. J. Theor. Probab. 2 (1989), 485-501.
- [11] M. Fukushima, On boundary conditions for multi-dimensional Brownian motions with symmetric resolvent densities. J. Math. Soc. Japan 21 (1969), 58-93.
- [12] M. Fukushima, P. He and J. Ying, Time changes of symmetric diffusions and Feller measures. Ann. Probab. 32 (2004), 3138-3166.
- [13] M. Fukushima and H. Tanaka, Poisson point processes attached to symmetric diffuions. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré Probab. Statist. 41 (2005), 419-459.

- [14] G. F. Lawler, The Laplacian-b random walk and the Schramm-Loewner evolution. Illinois J. Math. 50 (2006), 701-746. (Special volume in memory of Joseph Doob)
- [15] J. Milnor, Topology From the Differentiable Viewpoint, Princeton University Press, 1965.
- [16] S. C. Port and C. J. Stone, Brownian Motion and Classical Potential Theory. Academic Press, 1978
- [17] M. L. Silverstein, Symmetric Markov Processes. Lect. Notes Math. vol. 426. Springer, 1974.
- [18] E.M. Stein, Singular Integrals and Differentiability Properties of Functions. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1970.